d

Medicina

# What's behind neuropathic pain?

### Neurophysiological diagnostic tests investigating mechanisms underlying neuropathic pain

Caterina Maria Leone





**University Press** 

Collana Studi e Ricerche 92

#### Medicina

## What's behind neuropathic pain?

#### Neurophysiological diagnostic tests investigating mechanisms underlying neuropathic pain

Caterina Maria Leone



Copyright © 2020

**Sapienza Università Editrice** Piazzale Aldo Moro 5 – 00185 Roma

www.editricesapienza.it editrice.sapienza@uniroma1.it

Iscrizione Registro Operatori Comunicazione n. 11420

ISBN 978-88-9377-136-8

DOI 10.13133/9788893771368

Pubblicato a giugno 2020



Quest'opera è distribuita con licenza Creative Commons 3.0 diffusa in modalità *open access*.

In copertina: immagine distribuita da Pixabay con licenza Creative Commons CC0 (https://pixabay.com).

Ai miei bambini Giorgio, Giovanni e Anita

#### Table of contents

Introduction			1
1.	Types of neuropathic pain		2
	1.1.	Ongoing burning pain	2
	1.2.	Electrical shock-like pain	4
	1.3.	Dynamic mechanical allodynia	6
2.	Methodologies used in the studies		8
	2.1.	Quantitative sensory testing	8
	2.2.	Laser evoked potentials	8
	2.3.	Standard nerve conduction study	9
	2.4.	Somatosensory evoked potentials (SEPs or SSEPs)	9
	2.5.	Blink reflex	10
	2.6.	Skin Biopsy	11
3.	Aim o	of the Ph.D project	11
	3.1.	Concluding Remarks	13
4.	Refer	ences	13
Study I		17	
Study II			47
Study III			59
Study IV			73
Acknowledgements			87

#### Introduction

Pain usually develops when tissue-damaging stimuli activate peripheral nociceptive afferents.

Neuropathic pain arises by activity generated within the nervous system without adequate stimulation of its peripheral sensory endings. A widely accepted definition of neuropathic pain is "pain arising as a direct consequence of a lesion or disease affecting the somatosensory system" [1].

Neuropathic pain is a frequent problem in many peripheral and central nervous system (CNS) diseases. The peripheral nerve diseases that most commonly cause neuropathic pain are distal symmetric peripheral neuropathies (e.g. diabetic neuropathy), and focal neuropathies related to trauma (e.g. traumatic brachial plexus injuries) and to surgical interventions (e.g. breast surgery). Exemplary CNS diseases causing neuropathic pain include multiple sclerosis, spinal cord injury and stroke. The widely ranging etiologies suggest a high prevalence of neuropathic pain in the general population. [2]

Neuropathic pain typically manifests with continuous pain (burning, squeezing, pressure) or paroxysmal pain (electric shock-like sensations, stabbing pain), and provoked (brush-evoked, pressure-evoked, cold-evoked), or paraesthetic and dysaesthesic (tingling, pins and needles) sensations. In a study of 482 patients with neuro-pathic pain, the three most frequently reported pains were ongoing burning pain (65.4%), paroxysmal electric shock-like pain (57.0%), and brush-evoked pain (54.9%), with most patients reporting coexistence of heterogeneous sensory signs and symptoms.[3]

Clinicians in the field generally agree that patients with neuropathic pain that seems to be refractory to treatment may nevertheless have treatable disease, emphasizing the need for careful diagnostic assessment.[4] In recent years, increased combination of newly proposed screening questionnaires, and diagnostic procedures such as quantitative sensory testing (QST), pain-related evoked potentials and skin biopsy, have advanced the mechanistic approach to pain management, leading to the development of so-called sensory profiles (that is, different combinations of pain-related sensory abnormalities)[5][6][7].

Convincing evidence on the relationship between the underlying pathophysiological mechanisms and neuropathic pain symptoms now suggests that classifying neuropathic pain according to a mechanism-based rather than an etiology-based approach might help in targeting therapy to the individual patient and would also be useful in testing new drugs. [8][9][10] In the next pages I will resume the work by our group in clarifying how symptoms translate into mechanisms, with a focus on the findings about the role of large myelinated fibres in mediating paroxysmal pain.

#### 1. Types of neuropathic pain

#### 1.1. Ongoing burning pain

Although no pathognomonic symptom of neuropathic pain exists, the most typical type of pain in this condition is burning pain. Clinical studies report that the frequency of burning pain ranges from 51% to 90% in patients with peripheral neuropathy.[11]

QST shows at least one 'sensory' abnormality in almost all patients with neuropathic pain, but no studies have defined a clear relationship between ongoing burning pain and specific sensory abnormalities. Conversely, neurophysiological studies have shown that in patients with neuropathic pain related to peripheral and CNS diseases (postherpetic neuralgia, carpal tunnel syndrome, pain is inversely related to LEP amplitude. This relationship—although only an indirect finding in some instances—indicates that ongoing burning pain is closely associated with damage to the nociceptive system.[8][9][10]

Depending on whether the distal and proximal nerve terminals are anatomically spared, four mechanisms could, in theory, be responsible for ongoing burning pain. The first mechanism applies to conditions in which most distal terminals are spared and nociceptors are



**Fig.1**. Models for ongoing burning pain in primary sensory neuron disease. Arrows indicate pain source. Central sensitization can develop in these conditions. **a** | Initially, pain can be generated by peripheral sensitization ('irritable nociceptors'). **b** | In length-dependent polyneuropathy with continuous nerve regeneration, pain from regenerating sprouts is felt in the same territory of thermal-pain hypoaesthesia. **c** | In length-dependent polyneuropathy without regeneration, pain is absent in the area of thermal-pain hypoaesthesia. Peripheral sensitization can cause pain in the immediately proximal region. **d** | In postganglionic lesions that cause anatomical denervation of second-order neurons, pain is felt in the same territory as thermal-pain sensory loss, but the distal axon does not degenerate. **e** | When the cell body of the primary sensory neurons dies, proximal and distal portions of the axon degenerate. Pain is generated by the second-order neuron and is felt in the same territory as thermal-pain hypoaesthesia. Abbreviations: IENF, intraepidermal nerve fibre; LEP, laser-evoked potential.

sensitized (termed 'irritable' nociceptors). The second mechanism is based on so-called 'regenerating sprouts': in polyneuropathy that induces axon-length-dependent degeneration together with continuous regeneration attempts, newly generated nerve sprouts are hyperexcitable.[12] The third mechanism, which is termed 'functional deafferentation', refers to distal axonal degeneration that is unaccompanied by functionally important regeneration; in such circumstances, second-order neurons in the spinal cord, though still anatomically connected to the primary afferents, lose their physiological input. Finally 'anatomical denervation' refers to processes such as ganglionopathy or root lesion, in which proximal terminals degenerate and presynaptic boutons drop, thereby exposing the vacated postsynaptic membrane (Fig. 1).

#### **1.2. Electrical shock-like pain**

Established knowledge postulates that neuropathic pain invariably arises from nociceptive pathway damage. The underlying rationale hinges on the obvious reasoning that pain pathway dysfunction will produce painful sensations and on clinical and experimental evidence documenting pain pathway damage.[13] This assumption receives no support, however from neurophysiological studies conducted in our laboratory over recent years.[8][9][10] Our neurophysiological studies showed that in peripheral nervous system diseases, paroxysmal electrical shock-like pain is associated with evidence of large nonnociceptive myelinated fiber pathway damage. In patients with postherpetic neuralgia and carpal tunnel syndrome, paroxysmal pain is associated with abnormalities involving non nociceptive Aß fibers. This correlation per se does not necessary imply a direct causative association; nevertheless, the relationship between electrical shock-like pain and large myelinated fiber demyelination indirectly receives support from numerous observations in trigeminal neuralgia, the neuropathic pain condition most typically causing paroxysmal electrical shock-like pain.[14] In idiopathic trigeminal neuralgia (caused by vascular compression on the trigeminal root by tortuous or aberrant vessels) and symptomatic trigeminal neuralgia because of a tumour compressing the trigeminal nerve root, demyelination caused by the focal compression mainly damages large myelinated fibers. This pathological mechanism agrees with animal studies showing that a pneumatic cuff compressing the peripheral nerve affected large myelinated fibers but left small myelinated and unmyelinated fibers unaffected. [15] Symptomatic trigeminal neuralgia due to a pontine demyelinating plaque related to multiple sclerosis invariably arises from demyelination involving primary afferent fibers.[16] Whether produced by multiple sclerosis or chronic compression, A $\beta$ -fiber demyelination increases neuronal susceptibility to ectopic excitation and high-frequency discharges, producing typical paroxysmal electrical shock-like pain.[17] The proposed mechanism for electric shock-like pain indicates as the most appropriate treatments carbamazepine and oxcarbazepine. Insofar as such agents produce a frequency- dependent voltage-gated sodium channel block and, thereby, reduce action potential firing frequencies. That focal demyelination can induce bursts of high-frequency discharges according with neurophysiological evidence in patients with hemifacial spasm. Hemifacial spasm is caused by a neurovascular conflict between an aberrant vessel and the facial nerve, causing focal demyelination involving the facial nerve root.[18]

Facial muscle electromyography shows that the tonic facial muscle contraction in hemifacial spasm corresponds to highfrequency motor unit impulses that can reach up to 200 Hz. [19] Hence, the observation that focal demyelination involving large myelinated motor axons produces a paroxysmal movement disorder which implies that focal demyelination affecting large myelinated sensory nerve fibers produces paroxysmal electrical shock-like pain. Several animal studies describing spontaneous ectopic discharges recorded in A $\beta$ -fiber axons after nerve injuries support human clinical investigations.[20]

In animal models of peripheral neuropathy, the axonal population in which ectopic activity develops predominantly and early is the large myelinated fibers.[21] In animal models of multiple sclerosis, intraxonal recordings from demyelinated axons in the dorsal columns show abnormal spontaneous activity consisting of evenly spaced impulses at frequencies of 10 to 50 Hz and high-frequency bursts lasting up to 5 seconds.[22]

Although human and animal evidence supports the idea that paroxysmal electrical shock-like pain is related to A $\beta$ -fiber damage, opinions differ on whether the high-frequency bursts in focally demyelinated A $\beta$  fibers are sufficient to provoke pain per se. High-frequency bursts activating large fiber terminals can partially depolarize adjacent C-fiber terminals, but the mechanisms responsible for transferring A $\beta$ -fiber activity to non-myelinated axons remain controversial. They might act by crossing depolarizing afferent terminals in the dorsal horn, either through collateral axono-axonal synapses or through interneuron. [23] A further possibility is that the high-frequency discharge in damaged A $\beta$  fibers reaches the wide dynamic range (WDR) neurons, where it mimics the painful input. The WDR neurons lie in lamina V in the dorsal horn and receive both large and small fiber terminals. They can distinguish and project nociceptive and non nociceptive sensory information, encoding neuronal firing rates (higher for noxious and lower for non noxious stimuli). We propose that when the ectopically generated, high-frequency discharge in damaged A $\beta$  fibers reaches the WDR neurons, it mimics the painful input, even in unsensitised WDR neurons. Hence, an afferent input originating in non nociceptive fibers can spread to nociceptive pathways, thus producing pain.

#### 1.3. Dynamic mechanical allodynia

Provoked pain includes pain evoked by various types of stimuli. Allodynia is the preferred term for describing pain evoked by normally non painful stimuli. Warm and cold allodynia indicate pain due to normally non painful warm and cold stimuli. Mechanical static allodynia refers to pain from normally non painful static pressure stimuli on the skin; conversely, dynamic mechanical allodynia indicates pain evoked by light tactile stimuli.[24] The most common type of provoked pain is dynamic mechanical allodynia (hereafter, simply termed allodynia). Its prevalence on patients with neuropathic pain ranges from 18% to 55%.[24] Typical clinical observations include patients with thoracic postherpetic neuralgia reporting pain due to the contact between skin and shirt, and patients with diabetic neuropathy reporting pain due to the contact between feet and bed sheets.

No general agreement exists about the pathophysiological mechanism underlying allodynia in patients with peripheral nervous system diseases. Many investigators consider that allodynia reflects central sensitization of second-order nociceptive neurons.[25] Animal studies showed that after nerve damage, owing to the ongoing spontaneous activity arising from primary nociceptors (peripheral sensitization), spontaneous activity in second-order nociceptive neurons increases, receptive fields enlarge, and responses to afferent impulses, including innocuous tactile stimuli, increase.[25] In this pathological condition, A $\beta$  lowthreshold mechanoreceptors are able to activate second-order nociceptive neurons, thus gaining access to the pain-signalling pathway. Some previous studies in humans have provided support to the role of central sensitization and A $\beta$  fibers for the development of allodynia. Reaction time measurements demonstrated that allodynia is signaled by afferents with conduction velocities in the A $\beta$ -fiber range.[26] Transcutaneous electrical stimulation of the skin area with allodynia evokes pain at stimulus intensities that produce nonpainful sensations in normal skin.[27] In chronic neuropathic pain, differential nerve blocks concurrently abolish allodynia and tactile sensation leaving A $\delta$  and C-fiber-mediated modalities unaffected.[28] Evidence from humans has received support from many animal studies. After experimental nerve lesion, electrophysiological recordings from the dorsal horn documented that the second-order neurons exhibited high spontaneous discharges, enlarged receptive fields and lower thresholds, and augmented responses to mechanical stimulation.[29]

According to other investigators, rather than central sensitization, allodynia in patients with peripheral nervous system diseases might simply reflect peripheral sensitization.[30] Indirect support to this hypothesis comes from our studies using LEPs and skin biopsy (both techniques applied directly to the allodynic sites in patients with length-dependent neuropathy).[31]

Our LEP studies indicate that allodynia is associated with a relative sparing of nociceptive system. We strengthened this finding further in a skin biopsy study in patients with length-dependent neuropathy. [32] This study found a significantly higher epidermal nerve fiber density in patients with provoked pains (including dynamic mechanical allodynia) than in patients without these types of pain, thus showing that provoked pains and allodynia originate from relative nociceptive nerve fiber terminal sparing. These studies therefore indicate that in patients with length dependent neuropathy, a relative preservation of intraepidermal nerve fiber density and nociceptive system function increases the risk of allodynia. These findings are open to the interpretation that in several patients with painful neuropathy, dynamic mechanical allodynia and the other provoked pains might depend on a lowered mechanical threshold in hyperactive intraepidermal nociceptive nerve terminals. Accordingly, microneurographic studies show that light mechanical stimulation abnormally activates C nociceptors, thus producing allodynia.[33] All these findings in human studies indirectly raise the possibility that in some patients, peripheral sensitization might contribute, in addiction to second-order neuron sensitization to A $\beta$ -fiber input, to the development of allodynia.

#### 2. Methodologies used in the studies

#### 2.1. Quantitative sensory testing

QST is a psychophysiological tool that measures perception of mechanical, thermal and painful stimuli delivered at controlled intensity. To determine the perceptive threshold for each sensation, stimuli are applied to the skin at increasing or decreasing intensities. Mechanical sensitivity for tactile stimuli is measured by producing graded pressures with plastic filaments (such as von Frey hairs), thermal perception and thermal pain are measured using a thermode or other devices that induce controlled temperature changes. QST can, therefore, assess function in nociceptive and non-nociceptive afferent pathways, and has proved to be a convenient tool for diagnosis and follow-up of small-fibre neuropathy that cannot be assessed with standard nerve conduction studies. [34]



#### 2.2. Laser evoked potentials

The easiest and most reliable neurophysiological technique for assessment of nociceptive pathway function is measurement of LEPs. For this technique, pulses of laser-generated radiant heat are used to selectively excite free nerve endings in the superficial skin layers, which activates Að and C nociceptors and gives rise to brain evoked potentials specifically related to activation of ascending thermal-pain systems.[35] The highest-amplitude scalp signal after a laser stimulus is a negative– positive complex maximal at the vertex. The highest-amplitude scalp signal after a laser stimulus is a negative–positive complex maximal at the vertex, resulting from the simultaneous activity of several cortical generators, with a major participation of the middle parts of the cingulate gyrus (MCC) and variable contribution from the insular and/or frontal operculum areas. An earlier, smaller negative wave (150–180 ms after hand stimulation) is detected by the temporal leads, inverts polarity over the midline and is labelled "N1". EEG/MEG dipole analysis and intracortical recordings indicate that this signal is mainly generated in the upper bank of the sylvian fissure, encompassing the secondary somatosensory area (SII) and the posterior insula.[36]



#### 2.3. Standard nerve conduction study

Nerve conduction study (NCS) is the standardized neurophysiological test used to evaluate the efficiency of electrical conduction of motor and sensory peripheral nerves, reflecting large myelinated A $\beta$ fibres function. Sensory NCS is performed by electrical stimulation of a peripheral nerve and recording from a purely sensory portion of the nerve. The latency, i.e. the time it takes for the electrical impulse to travel from the stimulation to the recording site, is measured to calculate Nerve Conduction Velocity (NCV), whose slowing reflects A $\beta$  fibres myelin loss. The amplitude of electrical response, named Sensory Action Potential (SAP) is also measured as a parameter whose reduction is primarily influenced by axonal impairment.[37]



#### 2.4. Somatosensory evoked potentials (SEPs or SSEPs)

Somatosensory evoked potentials (SEPs or SSEPs) are a useful, noninvasive means of assessing somatosensory system functioning. By combining SEP recordings at different levels of the somatosensory pathways, it is possible to assess the transmission of the afferent volley from the periphery up to the cortex. SEP components include a series of positive and negative deflections that can be elicited by virtually any sensory stimuli. For example, SEPs can be obtained in response to a brief mechanical impact on the fingertip or to air puffs. However, SEPs are most commonly elicited by bipolar trancutaneous electrical stimulation applied on the skin over the trajectory of peripheral nerves of the upper limb (e.g., the median nerve) or lower limb (e.g., the posterior tibial nerve) (i.e. A $\beta$  fibers), and then recorded from the scalp.[38] In general, somatosensory stimuli evoke early cortical components (N20, P60, N80), generated in the contralateral primary somatosensory cortex (S1), related to the processing of the physical stimulus attributes. SSEP are a reliable technique to assess large non-nociceptive afferent fibres (A $\beta$  fibre–dorsal column system), and are widely used for investigation of PNS and CNS diseases.



#### 2.5. Blink reflex

The orbicularis oculi reflex can be evoked by stimuli of various modalities. In clinical practice, a supraorbital nerve stimulus is often used to evaluate the trigemino-facial blink reflex. The blink reflex involves an early response (R1) ipsilateral to the stimulated supraorbital nerve and a late bilateral response (R2). The common afferent limb of the reflex loop is made up of the sensory trigeminal root and the ophthal-



mic division, whereas the common efferent limb consists of the facial nerve. It gives information about the integrity of large non-nociceptive afferent fibres (A $\beta$  fibre).[39]

#### 2.6. Skin biopsy

Skin biopsy is a reliable and minimally invasive tool for investigation of nociceptive fibres in human epidermis and dermis. Several techniques for assessment of the density of nociceptive skin nerve fibres exist, but normative ranges have only been standardized in the case of bright-field immunohistochemistry. The most commonly used markers for nerve fibres are antibodies against protein gene product 9.5 (PGP9.5), a ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase. PGP9.5 is widely distributed in the PNS and is a nonspecific panaxonal marker. [40]

#### Skin biopsy (intraepidermal A $\delta$ and C fibres)



#### 3. Aim of the Ph.D project

The aim of this Ph.d project is to clarify mechanisms behind neuropathic pain with a particular focus on paroxysmal electric shock like sensation.

Neuropathic pain is very heterogeneous, with multiple patterns of presentation reflecting different combinations of etiological, genetic and environmental factors, and specifically, the neurobiological processes they engage. Because of their mechanistic diversity and different manifestations, these processes produce a complex profile or constellation of positive and negative sensory symptoms and signs, a "*pain fingerprint*".[41] To understand the genesis of the pain fingerprint we have to shift from etiologies to the reaction of the nervous system to the pathology. This is the cornerstone of the mechanistic approach to neuropathic pain. Moving from this assumption, during my Ph.D, I tried to extend the work by my group of research in help to disclose how mechanisms translate into symptoms. Our previous neurophysiological

studies in patients with neuropathic pain showed that while ongoing burning pain correlated with abnormalities of nociceptive fibre, paroxysmal electric-shock-like pain was associated with neurophysiological abnormalities involving non-nociceptive A $\beta$ -fibres (Fig. 2) [8][10].

Thanks to these important findings we decided to apply a comprehensive neurophysiological approach to different types of neuropathic pain to disclose what set of fibers is mainly involved in generating a specific type of neuropathic pain. Our findings will surely be helpful in minimize pathophysiological heterogeneity within the groups under investigation and, thereby, be useful in drug trials and in tailoring therapy to the individual patient.



**Fig. 2**. | In a group of 150 patients with distal symmetric peripheral neuropathy or carpal tunnel syndrome, the intensity of spontaneous burning pain correlated with the LEP amplitude (Pearson r = 0.5015, P <0.0001). b | The intensity of paroxysmal pain correlated with the delay of median nerve sensory conduction velocity, calculated as 50 m/s minus the patient's NCV, in a group of 70 patients with carpal tunnel syndrome (blue circles; Pearson r = 0.6875, P <0.0001), and the R1-blink reflex latency in a group of 50 patients with postherpetic neuralgia (orange circles; Pearson r = 0.5278, P = 0.0001). Dashed lines indicate 95% CIs from the mean. Abbreviations: LEP, laser-evoked potential; NCV, nerve conduction velocity; NRS, Numerical Rating Scale.

**Study I** is a review that summarize our current understanding of the peripheral and central pathophysiological mechanisms underlying neuropathic pain and focus on how symptoms translate into mechanisms.

**Study II** is about the human distribution of C-units related to sensations of warmth, pain and

Itch and provides new information supporting the idea that specific unmyelinated C-units mediate sensations of warmth, burning and itch.

**Study III** is about the role of peripheral nociceptor sensitization in mediating allodynia in patients

with distal symmetric polyneuropathy.

**Study IV** is a neurophysiological study to demonstrate the role of large myelinated fibres in mediating paroxysmal pain.

#### 3.1. Concluding Remarks

Neuropathic pain is such a huge theme to investigate and give an answer to the question "what's behind neuropathic pain?" it is an arduous challenge. I tried to approach the matter combining neurophysiological diagnostic tests and sensory profiles and I believe these data give a strong contribution to the new mechanisms-based approach. Furthermore the IV study definitively support the role of non-nociceptive  $A\beta$ -fibres in the development of spontaneous pain, such as the paroxysmal pain, thus breaking the dogma that only nociceptive fibres can mediate pain.

#### 4. References

- 1. Treede, R.-D. *et al.* Neuropathic pain: redefinition and a grading system for clinical and research purposes. *Neurology* **70**, 1630–1635 (2008).
- Attal, N., Lanteri-Minet, M., Laurent, B., Fermanian, J. & Bouhassira, D. The specific disease burden of neuropathic pain: results of a French nationwide survey. *Pain*152, 2836–2843 (2011).
- 3. Attal, N. et al. Neuropathic pain: are there distinct subtypes depending on the aetiology or anatomical lesion? Pain 138, 343–353 (2008).
- 4. Attal, N. et al. Assessing symptom profiles in neuropathic pain clinical trials: can it improve outcome? Eur. J. Pain 15, 441–443 (2011).
- Baron, R., Förster, M. & Binder, A. Subgrouping of patients with neuropathic pain according to pain-related sensory abnormalities: a first step to a stratified treatment approach. Lancet Neurol. 11, 999–1005 (2012).
- 6. Garcia-Larrea, L. Objective pain diagnostics: clinical neurophysiology. Neurophysiol. Clin. 42, 187–197 (2012).
- Hansson, P. Difficulties in stratifying neuropathic pain by mechanisms. Eur. J. Pain 7, 353–357 (2003).
- Truini, A. *et al.* Differential involvement of A-delta and A-beta fibres in neuropathic pain related to carpal tunnel syndrome. *Pain* 145, 105–109 (2009).
- 9. Truini, A. *et al.* Mechanisms of pain in multiple sclerosis: a combined clinical and neurophysiological study. *Pain* **153**, 2048–2054 (2012).

- 10. Truini, A. *et al.* Pathophysiology of pain in postherpetic neuralgia: a clinical and neurophysiological study. *Pain* **140**, 405–410 (2008).
- Bouhassira D, Attal N, Alchaar H, Boureau F, Brochet B, Bruxelle J, Cunin G, Fermanian J, Ginies P, Grun-Overdyking A, Jafari-Schluep H, Lante' ri- Minet M, Laurent B, Mick G, Serrie A, Valade D, Vicaut E. Comparison of pain syndromes associated with nervous or somatic lesions and development of a new neuropathic pain diagnostic questionnaire (DN4). PAIN 2005;114:29–36
- Kleggetveit IP, Namer B, Schmidt R, Hela° s T, Ru" ckel M, Ørstavik K, Schmelz M, Jørum E. High spontaneous activity of C-nociceptors in painful polyneuropathy. PAIN 2012;153:2040–7.
- 13. Fields HL, Rowbotham M, Baron R. Postherpetic neuralgia: irritable nociceptors and deafferentation. Neurobiol Dis 1998;5:209–27.
- Cruccu G, Gronseth G, Alksne J, Argoff C, Brainin M, Burchiel K, Nurmikko T, Zakrzewska JM; American Academy of Neurology Society; European Federation of Neurological Society. AAN-EFNS guidelines on trigeminal neuralgia management. Eur J Neurol 2008;15:1013–28.
- 15. Ochoa J, Fowler TJ, Gilliatt RW. Anatomical changes in peripheral nerves compressed by a pneumatic tourniquet. J Anat 1972;113(pt 3):433–55.
- Cruccu G, Biasiotta A, Di Rezze S, Fiorelli M, Galeotti F, Innocenti P, Mameli S, Millefiorini E, Truini A. Trigeminal neuralgia and pain related to multiple sclerosis. PAIN 2009;143:186–91.
- 17. Burchiel KJ. Abnormal impulse generation in focally demyelinated trigeminal roots. J Neurosurg 1980;53:674–83.
- 18. Valls-Sole' J. Facial palsy, postparalytic facial syndrome, and hemifacial spasm. Mov Disord 2002;2:S49–52.
- Nielsen VK. Pathophysiology of hemifacial spasm: I. Ephaptic transmission and ectopic excitation. Neurology 1984;34:418–26.
- Daniele CA, MacDermott AB. Low-threshold primary afferent drive onto GABAergic interneurons in the superficial dorsal horn of the mouse. J Neurosci 2009;29:686–95.
- 21. Zhu YF, Henry JL. Excitability of Ab sensory neurons is altered in an animal model of peripheral neuropathy. BMC Neurosci 2012;13:15.
- 22. Smith KJ, McDonald WI. The pathophysiology of multiple sclerosis: the mechanisms underlying the production of symptoms and the natural history of the disease. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 1999;354: 1649–73.
- Cervero F, Laird JMA. Mechanisms of allodynia: interactions between sensitive mechanoreceptors and nociceptors. Neuroreport 1996;31: 526–8.
- 24. Jensen TS, Finnerup NB. Allodynia and hyperalgesia in neuropathic pain: clinical manifestations and mechanisms. Lancet Neurol 2014;13:924–35.
- Treede RD, Meyer RA, Raja SN, Campbell JN. Peripheral and central mechanisms of cutaneous hyperalgesia. Prog Neurobiol 1992;38: 397–421.

- Campbell JN, Raja SN, Meyer RA, Mackinnon SE. Myelinated afferents signal the hyperalgesia associated with nerve injury. PAIN 1988;32: 89–94.
- 27. Price DD, Bennett GJ, Rafii A. Psychophysical observations on patients with neuropathic pain relieved by a sympathetic block. PAIN 1989;36: 273–88.
- 28. Koltzenburg M, Torebjo" rk HE, Wahren LK. Nociceptor modulated central sensitization causes mechanical hyperalgesia in acute chemogenic and chronic neuropathic pain. Brain 1994;117:579–91.
- Chen SR, Pan HL. Hypersensitivity of spinothalamic tract neurons associated with diabetic neuropathic pain in rats. J Neurophysiol 2002; 87:2726–33.
- 30. Ochoa J, Fowler TJ, Gilliatt RW. Anatomical changes in peripheral nerves compressed by a pneumatic tourniquet. J Anat 1972;113(pt 3):433–55.
- 31. Truini A, Biasiotta A, Di Stefano G, La Cesa S, Leone C, Cartoni C, Leonetti F, Casato M, Pergolini M, Petrucci MT, Cruccu G. Peripheral nociceptor sensitization mediates allodynia in patients with distal symmetric polyneuropathy. J Neurol 2013;260:761–6.
- 32. Truini A, Biasiotta A, Di Stefano G, Leone C, LaCesa S, Galosi E, Piroso S, Pepe A, Giordano C, Cruccu G. Does the epidermal nerve fibre density measured by skin biopsy in patients with peripheral neuropathies correlate with neuropathic pain? PAIN 2014;155:828–32.
- Ochoa JL, Campero M, Serra J, Bostock H. Hyperexcitable polymodal and insensitive nociceptors in painful human neuropathy. Muscle Nerve 2005;32:459–72.
- Backonja, M. M. *et al.* Quantitative sensory testing in measurement of neuropathic pain phenomena and other sensory abnormalities. *Clin. J. Pain* 25, 641–647 (2009).
- 35. Cruccu, G. *et al.* EFNS guidelines on neuropathic pain assessment: revised 2009.*Eur. J. Neurol.* **17**, 1010–1018 (2010).
- L. Garcia-Larrea, M. Frot, M. Valeriani Cortical generators of laserevoked potentials. From dipole modelling to functional significance Neurophysiol Clin, 33 (2003), pp. 279–292
- Kimura J. Peripheral Nerve Diseases, Handbook of Clinical Neurophysiology. Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2006.
- Mauguiere, F (1999). E. Niedermeyer & F. Lopes da Silva, ed. "Somatosensory evoked potentials". Electroencephalography: basic principles, clinical applications and related fields (Williams and Wilkins).
- Berardelli A, Cruccu G, Kimura J, Ongerboer de Visser BW, Valls-Solé J. The orbicularis oculi reflexes. The International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol Suppl. 1999;52:249-53.
- 40. Lauria G et al. European Federation of Neurological Societies/Peripheral Nerve Society Guideline on the use of skin biopsy in the diagnosis

of small fiber neuropathy. Report of a joint task force of the European Federation of Neurological Societies and the Peripheral Nerve Society. J Peripher Nerv Syst 2010;15:79-92

41. von Hehn CA, Baron R, Woolf CJ. Deconstructing the neuropathic pain phenotype to reveal neural mechanisms. Neuron. 2012 Feb 23;73(4):638-52. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.02.008. Review. Study I

# Pathophysiological Mechanisms of Neuropathic Pain

C. Leone, A. Biasiotta, S. La Cesa, G. Di Stefano, G. Cruccu, A. Truini

(Future Neurology. 2011;6(4):497-509)

#### Introduction

The widely accepted definition of neuropathic pain is 'pain arising as a direct consequence of a lesion or disease affecting the somatosensory system'.[1]

Neuropathic pain is a frequent problem in many peripheral and CNS diseases. The peripheral nerve diseases that most commonly cause neuropathic pain are distal symmetric peripheral neuropathies (e.g., diabetic neuropathy) and focal neuropathies related to trauma (e.g., traumatic brachial plexus injuries), as well as surgical interventions (e.g., breast surgery). Exemplary CNS diseases causing neuropathic pain include multiple sclerosis, spinal cord injury and stroke. The widely ranging etiologies suggest a high prevalence of neuropathic pain in the general population. Postal surveys designed to investigate chronic pain with neuropathic characteristics in large community samples have reported a 7–8% prevalence of neuropathic pain in the general population.[2,3]

Neuropathic pain arises through multiple and complex pathophysiological mechanisms. Convincing evidence on the relationship between the underlying pathophysiological mechanisms and neuropathic pain symptoms now suggests that classifying neuropathic pain according to a mechanism-based rather than an etiology-based approach might help in targeting therapy to the individual patient and would also be useful in testing new drugs. In this article we summarize our current understanding of the peripheral and central pathophysiological mechanisms underlying neuropathic pain and focus on how symptoms translate into mechanisms.

#### Mechanisms Underlying Neuropathic Pain

#### **Animal Models**

Most of our current knowledge on the complex pathophysiological processes that trigger neuropathic pain comes from animal models of peripheral nerve injuries, largely designed to mimic human diseases.[4] Although these models have the important merit of improving our knowledge on the mechanisms underlying neuropathic pain, they often poorly predict the involvement of particular targets or processes in human neuropathic pain.[4] Several studies have used total nerve transection and ligation to simulate the clinical conditions of amputation.[5] Partial nerve ligation[6] and spared nerve injury[7] have been used to simulate the clinical condition involving partial peripheral nerve injury. Spinal nerve ligation effectively simulates spinal root damage owing to a lumbar disk herniation.[8] Immune or toxin-mediated demyelination simulates demyelinating neuropathy.[9] Vincristine, paclitaxel and cisplatin have been used in animal models to mimic polyneuropathy caused by tumor chemotherapy.[10] Finally, streptozocin-induced damage to pancreatic insulin-producing cells in rats provides an experimental model of diabetic neuropathy.[11]

#### **Peripheral Sensitization**

Following nerve damage, a neuroma, consisting of regenerative nerve sprouts growing in all directions, develops at the proximal nerve stump. Electrophysiological recordings demonstrate that after nerve damage, ongoing spontaneous activity, abnormal excitability and an increased sensitivity to chemical, thermal and mechanical stimuli develop at multiple sites, including the neuroma (the site of injury with aborted axon growth), in the cell body of injured dorsal root ganglia neurons[12] and in neighboring intact afferents.[13] This 'hyperactivity' involving the nociceptive primary afferents is defined as peripheral sensitization (Fig. 1).[4,14–18]

Peripheral sensitization arises through various pathophysiological mechanisms. Following nerve damage, voltage-gated sodium channel expression undergoes marked changes. Many studies demonstrated abnormal sodium channel Nav1.3, Nav1.7, Nav1.8 and Nav1.9 expres-



**Fig. 1. A high-frequency discharge recorded in primary afferents after spinal nerve injury**. In all of the trains, the spikes **(A, 1–3)** are always triggered by a subthreshold oscillation peak as seen in the expanded time and voltage scale **(B, 1–3)**. Reproduced with permission from [123].

sion,[19,20] leading to primary afferent hyperexcitability (a lowered threshold and higher firing rate).[14,21,22] Clusters of sodium channels accumulate at the site of the nerve lesion but also within the intact dorsal root ganglion. In the dorsal root ganglion there is a phasically activating, voltage-dependent sodium conductance alternating with a passive, voltage- independent potassium leak, generating characteristic membrane potential oscillations. When oscillation sinusoids reach threshold amplitude, ectopic firing ensues (Fig. 2).[23,24]



Fig. 2. Baseline activity and responses to brush, press and pinch in one normal and one diabetic wide dynamic range neuron. The RFs of these two spinothalamic tract neurons are indicated in the shaded area of the rat hindpaw. RF: Receptive field.

Reproduced with permission from [124].

A useful animal model of neuropathic pain that involves dysregulated sodium channel expression in dorsal root gangli Ab-fibers (see for the glossary) on neurons is streptozotocin-induced diabetes. In this model sodium-channels Nav1.3, Nav1.6 and Nav1.9 mRNA and protein expression is upregulated, and *Nav1.8* mRNA is downregulated.[21,25,26] Whole-cell patch-clamp recordings demonstrated an increase in the peak current density and ramp current amplitude, consistent with Nav1.3, Nav1.6 and Nav1.7 channel upregulation, which produces robust ramp currents.[27] The type III embryonic sodium channel (Nav1.3) probably plays a key role in the development of neuropathic pain. It is present at low levels in adult afferent nociceptive pathways and after an experimental nerve injury its expression markedly increases.[28–30] It rapidly recovers from inactivation and has slow closed- state inactivation kinetics, suggesting that neurons expressing Nav1.3 may exhibit changes in either reduced threshold or a relatively high firing frequency, orboth.[28–30]

#### Box 1. Glossary.

- Aβ-fibers: large-myelinated nerve afferents or pathways that convey non-nociceptive input (e.g., tactile sensation)
- Aδ-fibers: small-myelinated nerve afferents or pathways that convey cold and nociceptive input
- Allodynia: pain sensation induced by a stimulus that normally does not provoke pain, and thus implies a change in the quality of a sensation
- Blink reflex: neurophysiological tool for assessing trigeminal large-myelinated pathway
- C-fibers: unmyelinated nerve afferents or pathways that convey thermal and nociceptive input
- Catechol- *O* -methyltransferase: enzyme that degrades catecholamines such as dopamine, epinephrine and norepinephrine
- Central sensitization: increased background activity, enlarged receptive field and increased responses to all afferent impulses of the second order nociceptive neurons
- Dysesthesias: spontaneous, nonconstant sensations that are clearly unpleasant (e.g., pins and needles)
- Hyperalgesia: increased pain response to a stimulus that normally provokes pain (e.g., the pin used in neurological examination)
- Laser-evoked potentials: scalp signals evoked by laser stimuli, which selectively assess Aδ afferent pathways
- Nerve Conduction Study: the standard electrodiagnostic tool for assessing peripheral nerve fiber function. It assesses only Aβ-fibers
- Paresthesia: spontaneous, nonconstant sensations that are not clearly unpleasant(e.g., tingling)

- Paroxysmal pain: sudden, very short-lasting pains (e.g., electric-shock-like, stabbing sensations)
- Peripheral sensitization: a reduction in threshold and an increase in responsiveness of the peripheral ends of nociceptors.
- Skin biopsy: a minimally invasive technique that assesses the density of intraepidermal fibers, which mainly consist of C-fibers
- TRPV1: the transient receptor potential cation channel, subfamily V, member 1. Also known as the capsaicin receptor, TRPV1 is a nonselective cation channel expressed predominantly in unmyelinated C-fibers
- Wide dynamic range neurons: second-order neurons located in the spinal cord dorsal horn, responsive to all sensory modalities (thermal, chemical and mechanical) and a broad range of intensity of stimulation from primary afferentsm

These data, together with experimental and clinical observations on the partial effectiveness of sodium-channel blocking agents in neuropathic pain, established a link between sodium channel activity and primary afferent hyperexcitability producing pain.

[31] Recent studies have linked gain-of-function mutations in *SC*-*N9A*, the gene that encodes Nav1.7, to two human-inherited pain syndromes, inherited erythromelalgia and paroxysmal extreme pain disorder, whereas loss-of-function mutations in *SCN9A* have been linked to complete insensitivity to pain.[32,33]

Although potassium channel expression has been studied less than sodium channel expression in animal models of neuropathic pain, potassium-channels probably have a key role in the development of neuropathic pain. Several studies reported a reduction in potassium channel transcript expression in the dorsal root ganglion after peripheral nerve lesions.[34–36] Furthermore, potassium channel openers act as analgesics in animal models of neuropathic pain.[37,38]

The development and maintenance of peripheral sensitization is modulated by cytokines, small proteins involved in inflammatory processes. Various animal experiments demonstrate that peripheral nerve injury increases TNF and IL-1 $\beta$  immunoreactivity in dorsal root ganglia of both injured and uninjured ipsilateral adjacent afferents.[39] The increased cytokine level is associated with reduced mechanical and thermal withdrawal thresholds in rats.[40-44] Epineurially-applied TNF elicited acute mechanical hyperalgesia in the awake rat[40] and antibodies neutralizing the TNF receptor injected at the site of nerve injury reduce pain behavior in mice.[41] Exogenous TNF injected into dorsal root ganglia of damaged roots is transported into the dorsal horn, precipitating allodynia in both the ligated and adjacent uninjured nerves.[42,43] Nerve biopsies of patients with painful neuropathies demonstrated higher TNF immunoreactivities in myelinating Schwann cells and serum solubleTNF receptor levels are higher in patients with centrally-mediated mechanical allodynia.[44] An endogenous IL-1ß receptor antagonist, experimentally injected in mice, prevents inflammatory hyperalgesia, and antibodies neutralizing IL-1ß receptors reduce pain-associated behavior in mice with experimental nerve damage.[45-47] After unilateral chronic constriction injury, IL-  $1\beta$  also increases in the contralateral homolog nerve.[48,49] This selective contralateral cytokine induction is probably mediated by NMDA receptors and reflects a spinal mechanism.

Peripheral sensitization also involves the upregulation of various proteins, some of them only marginally expressed under physiological conditions. Various animal studies demonstrated that peripheral nerve injury changes transient receptor potential (TRP) channel expression. TRP channels are a family of non-selective cation-permeable channels that are known to be important for sensory signaling in the peripheral nervous system. Several animal studies investigated the role of the vanilloid receptor 1 (TRPV1), a member of the TRP family, in the development of neuropathic pain.[50-53] Total or partial sciatic nerve transection, or spinal nerve ligation, reduce TRPV1 expression in the somata of all damaged dorsal root ganglia.[50-53] Following partial nerve lesion or spinal nerve ligation, TRPV1 expression is greater in the undamaged dorsal root ganglion somata than in controls.[50–53] Evidence that hyperalgesia does not develop in TRPV1-deficient mice and that TRPV1 antagonists reduce pain behavior in mice after spinal nerve ligation further supports the idea that TRPV1 plays a crucial role in the development of neuropathic pain.[50–53]

Normal nerve terminals assume signal substances that are transmitted by axonal transport to the dorsal root ganglion cell body. In the dorsal root ganglion cell body these signal substances modify gene transcription and protein synthesis.[54,55] After nerve damage, sprouts can no longer assume these molecules. Therefore, nerve damage, through complex signaling mechanisms (cAMP-dependent PKA and Ca2+/phospholipid-dependent PKC) modulate gene transcription. Animal studies demonstrated that after nerve damage, there is an induction of *c-jun*, *p-38* and *ERK*.[56–60] The encoded proteins of these genes are involved in inflammatory responses, neuronal degeneration and neuronal plasticity, which maintain pain sensation. [14,56–60] Therefore, the importance of genetic factors in neuropathic pain remains an interesting question for further research, especially for their possible use as targets for new, more selective drugs.

In accordance with findings from animal studies, microelectrode recordings from transected nerves in human amputees with phantom limb pain, displayed spontaneous afferent activity (i.e., peripheral sensitization). In these patients, tapping the neuroma increases pain and afferent discharges.[61] The injection of lidocaine into the neuroma blocks nerve activity owing to the tap of the neuroma and its related pain.[16] By contrast, perineuromal injection of gallamine, a potassium channel blocker, increases pain.[62] Some investigators demonstrated an inverse relationship between ongoing pain and heat pain deficit in patients with postherpetic neuralgia.[63] In these patients, lidocaine applied to the painful skin in patients with postherpetic neuralgia produces effective pain relief.[64] Microneurographic studies demonstrated with ongoing spontaneous firing of unmyelinated c-fibers.[65–67]

#### **Central Sensitization**

Despite the increasing evidence underlying the importance of peripheral sensitization, many investigators consider central sensitization the main pathophysiological mechanism responsible for neuropathic pain.[14,68–70] The primary afferent pathways that convey human pain signals connect in the spinal cord dorsal horn with second-order nociceptive neurons. They consist of nociceptive-specific neurons and wide dynamic range neurons.[71,72] Nociceptive-specific neurons are located in the outer layers (laminae I–II) of the dorsal horn; wide dynamic range neurons lie in deeper laminae (most of lamina V neurons are wide dynamic neurons). Nociceptive-specific neurons respond selectively to noxious stimuli conveyed by A $\delta$ - and C-fibers. Wide dynamic range neurons excited both by noxious and non-noxious stimuli, receive both large-myelinated A $\beta$ -fibers as well as A $\delta$ - and C-fibers. Wide dynamic range neurons can encode and project different types
of sensory information, nociceptive and non-nociceptive, varying their firing rate (higher for noxious and lower for non-noxious stimuli). Nociceptive neurons have a fairly localized receptive field and probably play an important role in spatially detecting nociceptive stimuli. By contrast, since wide dynamic range neurons have a large receptive field and a stimulus-response function (the higher the stimulus intensity, the higher the firing rate of their output), their main function is to detect and discriminate the intensity ofnoxious stimuli.[73,74]

Animal studies demonstrated that after nerve damage, owing to the ongoing spontaneous activity arising from primary nociceptors (peripheral sensitization), background activity in second-order nociceptive neurons increases, receptive fields enlarge and responses to afferent impulses, including innocuous tactile stimuli, increase (Fig. 2). In this pathological condition, A $\beta$  low-threshold mechanoreceptors can activate second-order nociceptive neurons, thus gaining access to the pain- signaling pathway. This phenomenon is termed central sensitization.[4,16,68,75] Central sensitization has been documented in animals and may explain persistent neuropathic pain in patients.[14,69,70]

Peripheral nociceptor hyperactivity causes major secondary changes in the spinal cord dorsal horn. In response to pain stimuli, the central terminals of primary nociceptive afferents in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord release the neurotransmitters glutamate and substance P, as well as brain-derived neurotrophic factor. The amino acid glutamate, the major excitatory neurotransmitter found throughout the whole nervous system, is essential for pain signaling at every anatomical level. Primary nociceptive afferents release glutamate in response to acute and persistent noxious stimuli, and through AMP acid(AM-PA) receptor activation, set the initial baseline response of spinal dorsal horn neurons. Delivering repetitive and high-frequency stimulation to primary nociceptive afferents amplifies and prolongs the responses of spinal dorsal horn neurons. This enhanced activity results from NMDA-receptor activation. Acute or low-frequency stimuli delivered to second-order neurons cannot activate the NMDA receptor because in normal physiological conditions the magnesium ion (Mg2+) levels found in nervous tissues block the receptor's ion channel. A sustained membrane depolarization is required to activate and open the NMDAreceptor-channel.

[72] The contact between neurotransmitters and receptors produce an increase of intracellular Ca2+ and cAMPconcentrations, which activates protein kinases. Protein kinases consist of the signaling cascade that modulates gene transcription (i.e., *c-fos*, *c-jun*).[69,76]

Like peripheral sensitization in neuropathic pain, recent studies demonstrate that central sensitization arises also through changes in ion channels. Peripheral nerve injury leads to changes in sodium-channel expression within nociceptive dorsal horn neurons, strongly suggesting that sodium channel changes in the dorsal horn contribute to neuropathic pain. For example, experimental spinal cord injury upregulates Nav1.3 in dorsal horn neurons. This upregulation is associated with hyperexcitability in second-order nociceptive neurons and pain. Antisense knockdown of Nav1.3 reduces second-order nociceptive neuronal hyperexcitability and pain behavior in spinal cord-injured rats.[77,78] Several lines of evidence suggest that the mechanisms underlying central sensitization at the dorsal horn level also involve molecular mechanisms other than sodium channels, for example, prostaglandins and cytokines, the proinflammatory substances that facilitate pain transmission.[14,22,79]

Although most investigators consider central and peripheral sensitization as the main mechanisms underlying neuropathic pain, peripheral nerve damage also leads to other central changes.[79] For example, mild afferent signal loss might induce major changes in dorsal horn neuron excitability. When large A $\beta$ -fiber input decreases, the interneurons that inhibit nociceptive neurons become hypoactive (loss of afferent inhibition).[80] Earlier research suggested changes in the descending modulatory systems[81] subsequently confirmed by the efficacy of serotonin and noradrenalin reuptake-blocking antidepressants in neuropathic pain.[14] During massive deafferentation, after presynaptic terminal buttons are lost, the postsynaptic receptors on spinothalamic tract (STT) neurons become exposed to neurotransmitters, and STT neurons begin to fire spontaneously (deafferentation supersensitivity).[14]

This article again underlines the role of glial cells in neuropathic pain. Glial cells, including microglia and astrocytes, are non- neuronal cells that have various functions in the spinal cord. Glial cells act as physical support, release mediators that modulate neuronal activity and alter axonal and dendritic growth. Under normal conditions they account for 70% of CNS cells. [82]

Several lines of evidence indicate that spinal cord microglia and astrocytes are implicated in creating exaggerated pain states.[83–87] Glial cells play a crucial role in maintaining neuronal homeostasis in the CNS and immune factors produced by microglia are believed to play an important role in nociceptive transmission. Increasing evidence demonstrates that uncontrolled glial cell activation under neuropathic pain conditions induces the release of proinflammatory cytokines and other substances that facilitate pain transmission.[83–87] Glial cells also enhance the release of substance P and excitatory amino acids from nerve terminals, including primary afferents in the spinal cord. [83,84] Glial cell activation can also lead to altered opioid system activity.[85–87] During strong neuronal excitation, such as that induced by neuropathic pain, fractalkine, a protein expressed by neurons, breaks free.[88] The soluble portion of fractalkine diffuses away and binds to and activates glial cells.[89] Intrathecal fractalkine creates both thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia, and fractalkine receptor blockade blocks inflammatory neuropathy-induced pain.[90]

### **Mechanism-based Symptoms**

At the bedside examination, neuropathic pain can been distinguished from spontaneous pain, (i.e., stimulus independent) and provoked pain.[70] Spontaneous pain can have several different qualities. The most typical spontaneous pains are ongoing pain (usually superficial burning or deep pressing pain, or both), and paroxysmal pain (electrical shock-like, stabbing pain).[79,91] Provoked pain includes allodynia, pain in response to a normally nonpainful stimulus, and hyperalgesia, an increased response to a normally painful stimulus. Unfortunately, unlike animal studies, neuropathic pain mechanisms in humans remain largely unclear; current clinical and neurophysiological research has proposed various mechanismsfor each type of pain.

A useful way to draw parallels between symptom and mechanism is to combine patients' sensory profiles, obtained by specific questionnaires such as the Neuropathic Pain Symptom Inventory (NPSI), using data obtained with neurophysiological tools (blink reflex, nerve conduction studies and laser-evoked potentials).

Patients with neuropathic pain syndromes typically describe their pain as constant and burning. In a group of 150 patients with various types of polyneuropathy (68 with neuropathic pain) approximately 90% complained of burning pain.[92] Previous neurophysiological studies demonstrated that in patients with various neuropathic pain conditions (postherpetic neuralgia, carpal tunnel syndrome and polyneuropathy) burning pain is associated with nociceptive pathway damage as assessed by laser-evoked potential recordings (Fig. 3).[92-94] Microneurographic studies demonstrated that in patients with peripheral neuropathies the spontaneous burning pain was associated with the ongoing spontaneous firing of C fibers. [65–67] Skin biopsy studies described reduced intraepidermal nociceptive terminals in patients with ongoing pain related to peripheral neuropathy. [95,96] These data suggest that ongoing burning pain is probably due to the abnormal spontaneous activity originating in damaged nociceptive fiber axons that have lost their intraepidermal endings. Although the spontaneous activity causing burning pain presumably originates from axonal sprouts, a concurrent mechanism might include long-term CNS changes provoked by nociceptive pathway damage, such as hyperactivity in the second-order neurons (central sensitization).[22,97] A recent microneurographic study provided new evidence of a specific C-fiber set that have a bimodal thermoreceptive properties and are activated by cooling, heating and menthol.[98] Activity of this specific set of C-fiberscould be responsible for the stinging, hot and burning sensations evoked by innocuous cold stimuli.[99] Ongoing burning pain might also be related to the central hyperactivity resulting from deafferentation. In patients with postherpetic neuralgia, the ongoing burning pain is associated with a severe heat pain deficit, thus suggesting a severe C-afferent-fiber loss. A previous study used the C-fiber-mediated histamine axon reflex in patients with postherpetic neuralgia to determine C-fiber activity, demonstrating an abolished response in the area of maximum pain.[16] Ongoing burning pain frequently manifest as sequelae related to deafferentation, produced by a brachial plexus avulsion. Direct recordings of spinal neuron activity in a patient with injury to the dorsal roots of the cauda equina disclosed high-frequency, regular and paroxysmal bursting discharges. [16] The patient suffered from spontaneous burning pain in a region where the lesion had caused anesthesia (anaesthesia dolorosa).

Previous neurophysiological studies in patients with postherpetic neuralgia and carpal tunnel syndrome demonstrated that paroxysmal pain is associated with abnormalities involving non-nociceptive A $\beta$ -fibers.[93,94] More specifically, in patients with postherpetic neuralgia and carpal tunnel syndrome, the correlation between the blink reflex delay and median-nerve sensory conduction velocity slowing, sug-



Fig. 3. Correlations between the severity of ongoing burning pain and laser-evoked potential abnormalities in various neuropathic pain conditions. (A) 41 patients with ophthalmic postherpetic neuralgia. LEPs elicited from supraorbital stimulation. (B) 40 patients (75 hands) with carpal tunnel syndrome. LEPs elicited from the hand (median nerve territory). (C) 150 patients with polyneuropathy. LEPs elicited from the foot. The more severe the burning pain, the more abnormal the LEPs, changes that reflect nociceptive pathwaydamage.

LEP: Laser-evoked potential.

gests that this type of pain is related to focal A $\beta$ -fiber demyelination. In accordance with previous studies in animals describing spontaneous ectopic discharges recorded in large myelinated A $\beta$ -fiber axons after nerve injuries,[9,100,101] paroxysmal pain may be related to high-frequency bursts generated in demyelinated A $\beta$ -fibers. It is still unclear whether these high-frequency bursts in demyelinated A $\beta$ -fibers are sufficient to provoke pain *per se* or do so only after ephaptic transmission to the neighbouring unmyelinated C-fibers, or by involving wide dynamic range neurons.[94] Although most investigators consider paroxysms as peripheral phenomena related to spontaneous firing, a clinical study provided evidence that paroxysmal pain is associated with decreased small-fiber function, thus raising the possibility that paroxysms originate centrally in the second-orderneurons.[102]

No general agreement exists regarding the pathophysiological mechanism underlying allodynia.[18] Two opposing views currently exist, one peripheral[67,103] and the other central.[104] According to some investigators, allodynia reflects peripheral sensitization.[105] Over the past decades, a possible role for hyperexcitable peripheral nociceptors as primary determinants of pain in humans has received ample support. Microneurographic recordings in patients with painful neuropathy demonstrated that allodynia was related to C nociceptor firing.[67] A recent study in patients with polyneuropathy found that allodynia was associated with a relative sparing of nociceptive fibers,

as assessed with laser-evoked potentials.[92] These findings suggest that allodynia reflects an abnormal reduction in the mechanical threshold in sensitized peripheral nociceptors.[79,92,106]

According to many investigators, allodynia is generated at a central level.[16,18] The spontaneous firing in damaged nociceptive afferents may evoke ongoing pain and, as a secondary effect, sensitize central nociceptive neurons.[68,107-109] As a result, a large skin area surrounding the initial lesion site may become hypersensitive to light touch (i.e., allodynia). Microneurographic studies demonstrated that allodynia is mediated by large myelinated Aβ-fiber low-threshold mechanoreceptors.[110] In chronic neuropathic pain, differential nerve blocks demonstrate that allodynia is abolished concomitantly with loss of innocuous tactile sensation at a time when Aδ- and C-fiber mediated modalities are unaffected.[107,111] In patients with neuropathic pain, a selective Aβ-fiber block eliminates allodynia[107,112] but ongoing burning pain persists, indicating that it is mediated by C- nociceptors. [16] Central sensitization as the main mechanism underlying allodynia also receives support from the link between this pain symptom and abnormal pain summation on repetitive mechanical stimulation, a sign of central sensitization.[16]Future research efforts, designed to translate mechanisms into symptoms, should therefore seek more information to clarify the peripheral mechanisms underlying neuropathic pain.

### **Sensory Profiles**

Patients experiencing neuropathic pain suffer from sensory deficits, as well as various types and different combinations of pain. Neuropathic pain may be ongoing (e.g., burning and pressing), paroxysmal pain (e.g., stabbing and electric shock-like sensations) or pain provoked by various stimuli (e.g., gentle brushing [allodynia] or cold water [cold allodynia]). Specific types of pain may predominate in some neuropathic pain conditions but none of them are etiologic specific. [113,114] Thus, patients suffering from the same disease may present with a heterogeneous profile of symptoms and sensory signs. Therefore, the aim of diagnostic workup should be to define specific sensory profiles through clinical examination, questionnaires dedicated to neuropathic pain and laboratory tools.

Current research findings strongly indicate that the different profile of sensory signs and symptoms, (including provoked pain and spontaneous pain) arise through different pathophysiological mechanisms. Clinical, neurophysiological and neuropathological investigations show that in patients with peripheral neuropathy of various etiologies, spontaneous burning pain is invariably related to the nociceptive pathway damage.[92–95] By contrast, recent neurophysiological studies suggest that spontaneous paroxysmal pain reflects demyelination of non-nociceptive, large-myelinated fibers (as described previously). [93,94] Overall, these findings suggest that neuropathic pain can be classified by sensory profiles (quality of pain) rather than etiology, as the recent European guidelines recommend.[115] Classifying neuropathic pain according to a mechanism-based rather than an etiology-based approach might minimize pathophysiological heterogeneity within the groups under study and thus help in targeting therapy to the individual patient.

## Genetic Inheritance of Neuropathic Pain

Because not all patients with nerve injury experience neuropathic pain, the heritable predisposition for neuropathic pain probably varies between subjects. Animal studies indicate that neuropathic pain sensitivity encompasses a large heritable component,[116] hence genetic risk factors are probably important in the various clinical neuropathic pain conditions.[117]

Some genetic diseases are associated with an increased risk for the development of neuropathic pain. For example, Fabry disease is a rare X-linked recessive (inherited) lysosomal storage disease that causes painful neuropathy.[118] Gain-of-function mutations in SCN9A, the gene that encodes Nav1.7, cause two extremely rare inherited neuropathic pain conditions, erythromelalgia and paroxysmal extreme pain disorder.[32] In these rare conditions traditional genetic techniques can be applied for studying genetic susceptibility. Yet, because the nervous system diseases that most commonly cause neuropathic pain are sporadic, neither family history nor classic genetic techniques can be relied upon to evaluate the heritable susceptibility to this condition. Reasonably, the genetic risk of developing neuropathic pain after nervous system damage results from multiple risk-conferring genes. In an attempt to highlight the role of genetic susceptibility in neuropathic pain, Costigan and colleagues (2010) investigated a single nucleotide polymorphism association of the potassium channel  $\alpha$  subunit, KCNS1, in humans with neuropathic pain.[117] They found that a common amino acid changing-allele, the 'valine risk allele', was significantly associated with higher pain scores. Other studies investigated catechol-O-methyltransferase polymorphisms that modulate nociceptive and dysfunctional temporomandibular joint disorder pain.[119,120] A recent study demonstrated that a single nucleotide polymorphism in *SCN9A* increased firing frequency of DRG neurons; this single nucleotide polymorphism was subsequently shown to be associated with chronic pain.[121,122] Therefore, in defining sensory profiles we need to take into account the increasing evidence that each patient has a unique genomic fingerprint. A new future approach to neuropathic pain should therefore include genetic analysis among the more conventional diagnostic tools.

### Conclusion

Neuropathic pain arises directly from a lesion or disease affecting the somatosensory system. Our current knowledge on the mechanisms of neuropathic pain comes largely from animal models of peripheral nerve injury. Animal models demonstrate that after a peripheral nerve injury, spontaneous activity develops in damaged axons, excitability becomes abnormal and sensitivity to chemical, thermal and mechanical stimuli increases, resulting in the development of peripheral sensitization. Owing to the ongoing activity arising from primary afferents, background activity in second-order nociceptive neurons increases, receptive fields enlarge and responses to all afferent impulses increase, resulting in the development of central sensitization.

Although animal models help to understand the mechanisms responsible for neuropathic pain, they poorly reflect clinical conditions. Therefore, data from animals cannot invariably be applied in humans. In humans, different pathophysiological mechanisms are responsible for the development of neuropathic pain that manifests with heterogeneous sensory disturbances. Although specific types of pain may predominate in some etiological categories of neuropathic pain, none of them are etiology- specific. Thus, regardless of the disease, patients suffering may present with heterogeneous sensory signs and symptoms, even with the same disease. Our findings in this article show that we now have the information needed for classifying neuropathic pain according to a mechanism-based, rather than an etiology-based, approach and targeting therapy to the individual patient.

## **Future Perspective**

Neuropathic pain owing to lesions or disease of the nervous system remains a major neurological challenge. We now have to change the way we classify, diagnose and treat neuropathic pain from an etiology-based to a mechanism-based approach. In clinical practice, the diagnostic work-up should aim at defining specific sensory profiles, thus targeting therapy to the individual patient and improving drug testing. Although a possible future direction for managing neuropathic pain might be mechanism- based therapy, clinical experimental studies indicate that a specific symptom might be generated by several entirely different underlying pathophysiological mechanisms, suggesting a wider phenotypical approach to the patient with neuropathic pain.

Future studies should also clarify how genetic factors contribute to the risk of neuropathic pain. Improved knowledge of the genes involved in neuropathic pain conditions might help us in targeting novel analgesics and biomarkers of neuropathic pain.

## **Executive Summary**

### Mechanisms Underlying Neuropathic Pain

- Electrophysiological recordings demonstrate that the regenerating C-fibers of damaged axons develop ongoing spontaneous activity, abnormal excitability and an increased sensitivity to chemical, thermal and mechanical stimuli. This phenomenon is termed peripheral sensitization.
- Following nerve damage, as a consequence of the peripheral sensitization, second order nociceptive neurons develop an increased background activity, enlarged receptive field and increased responses to all afferent impulses. This phenomenon is termed central sensitization.

### Mechanism-based Symptoms

 Neuropathic pain may be ongoing (e.g., burning pain), paroxysmal (e.g., electrical shock-like sensations) or provoked by various stimuli. The different types of neuropathic pain probably arise through variations in the underlying mechanisms.

- Burning pain probably reflects the abnormal, spontaneous activity originating in damaged nociceptive fiber axons.
- Paroxysmal pain may be related to high-frequency bursts generated in demyelinated Aβ-fibers.
- Allodynia may be due to a peripheral mechanism, reflecting an abnormal reduction of the mechanical threshold in sensitised nociceptors, or to a central mechanism, reflecting the sensitization of central nociceptive neurons to mechanically evoked input.
- Successful neuropathic pain management requires the definition of precise sensory profiles. The diagnostic process should aim at finding specific sensory profiles through clinical examination, questionnaires dedicated to neuropathic pain and laboratorytools.
- A classification per sensory profile rather than etiology might minimize pathophysiological heterogeneity and increase the power to detect a positive treatment result.

# Genetic Inheritance of Neuropathic Pain

• Reasonably, the genetic risk of developing neuropathic pain after nervous system damage results from multiple risk- conferring genes.

# **Future Perspective**

• An increased knowledge of the mechanisms underlying pain and their translation into signs and symptoms in patients might lead to an optimal therapeutic approach, with drugs that address the specific combination of mechanisms occurring in each patient.

# References

- Treede RD, Jensen TS, Campbell JN *et al.* Neuropathic pain: redefinition and a grading system for clinical and research purposes. *Neurology* 70(18), 1630–1635 (2008).
  - •• Provides a new, widely accepted definition of neuropathic pain.
- 2. Smith BH, Torrance N, Bennett MI, Lee AJ. Health and quality of life associated with chronic pain of predominantly neuropathic origin in the community. *Clin. J. Pain* 23(2),143–149 (2007).
- Bouhassira D, Lantéri-Minet M, Attal N, Laurent B, Touboul C. Prevalence of chronic pain with neuropathic characteristics in the general population. *Pain* 136(3), 380–387 (2008).

• Deals with the prevalence of neuropathic pain in the general population.

- Costigan M, Scholz J, Woolf CJ. Neuropathic pain: a maladaptive response of the nervous system to damage. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 32, 1–32 (2009).
  - Excellent review on neuropathic pain.
- 5. Wall PD, Devor M, Inbal R, Scadding JW, Schonfeld D, Seltzer Z, Tomkiewicz MM. Autotomy following peripheral nerve lesions: experimental anaesthesia dolorosa. *Pain* 7(2), 103–111 (1979).
- Seltzer Z, Dubner R, Shir Y. A novel behavioral model of neuropathic pain disorders produced in rats by partial sciatic nerve injury. *Pain* 43, 205–218 (1990).
- 7. Decosterd I, Woolf CJ. Spared nerve injury: an animal model of persistent peripheral neuropathic pain. *Pain* 87(2), 149–158 (2000).
- 8. Kim SH, Chung JM. An experimental model for peripheral neuropathy produced by segmental spinal nerve ligation in the rat. *Pain* 50, 355–363 (1992).
- 9. Wallace VC, Cottrell DF, Brophy PJ, Fleetwood-Walker SM. Focal lysolecithin-induced demyelination of peripheral afferents results in neuropathic pain behavior that is attenuated by cannabinoids. *J.Neurosci.*23(8), 3221–3233 (2003).
- 10. PeltierAC,Russell JW. Recent advances in drug-induced neuropathies. *Curr.Opin.Neurol.* 15(5), 633–638 (2002).
- 11. Rondón LJ, Privat AM, Daulhac L *et al.* Magnesium attenuates chronic hypersensitivity and spinal cord NMDA receptor phosphorylation in a rat model of diabetic neuropathic pain. *J. Physiol.* 588(Pt 21), 4205–4215 (2010).
- 12. Amir R, Kocsis JD, Devor M. Multiple interacting sites of ectopic spike electrogenesis in primary sensory neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 25(10), 2576–2585 (2005).
- 13. Wu G, Ringkamp M, Hartke TV *et al.* Early onset of spontaneous activity in uninjured C-fiber nociceptors after injury to neighboring nerve fibers. *J. Neurosci.*21(8),RC140 (2001).
- 14. Zimmermann M. Pathobiology of neuropathic pain. *Eur.J.Pharmacol.* 429, 23–37 (2001).

• Excellent review in neuropathic pain ranging from animal to human evidence.

- Bostock H, Campero M, Serra J, Ochoa JL. Temperature-dependent double spikes in C-nociceptors of neuropathic pain patients. *Brain* 128(Pt 9), 2154–2163 (1998).
- 16. Fields HL, Rowbotham M, Baron R. Postherpetic neuralgia: irritable nociceptors and deafferentation. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 5(4), 209–227 (1998).
  - Summary of mechanisms of pain in postherpetic neuralgia.

- Campbell JN, Meyer RA. Mechanisms of neuropathic pain. *Neuron* 52(1), 77–92 (2001).
- Baron R, Binder A, Wasner G. Neuropathic pain: diagnosis, pathophysiological mechanisms, and treatment. *Lancet Neurol.* 9(8), 807–819 (2010).
- Black JA, Nikolajsen L, Kroner K, Jensen TS, Waxman SG. Multiple sodium channel isoforms and MAP kinases are present in painful human neuromas. *Ann. Neurol.* 64(6), 644–653 (2008).
- 20. Wood JN, Boorman JP, Okuse K, Baker MD. Voltage-gated sodium channels and pain pathways. *J. Neurobiol.* 61, 55–71 (2004).
  Addresses the role of voltage-gated sodium channels in the development of neuropathic pain.
- Sommer C. Painful neuropathies. *Curr. Opin. Neurol.* 16,623–628 (2003).
  Summary of the different peripheral neuropathies in humans and the role of specific mediators such as cytokines.
- 22. Attal N, Bouhassira D. Mechanisms of pain in peripheral neuropathy. *Acta Neurol. Scand. Suppl.* 173, 12–24 (1999).
- 23. Amir R, Liu CN, Kocsis JD, Devor M. Oscillatory mechanism in primary sensory neurons. *Brain* 2125, 421–435 (2002).
- 24. Devor M. The pathophysiology of damaged peripheral nerves. In: *Textbook of Pain (3rd Edition)*. Wall, PD, Melzack R (Eds). Churchill Livingstone, UK, 79–101 (1994).
- Craner MJ, Klein JP, Renganathan M, Black JA, Waxman SG. Changes of sodium channel expression in experimental painful diabetic neuropathy. *Ann. Neurol.* 52(6), 786–792 (2002).
- 26. Devor M. Sodium channels and mechanisms of neuropathic pain. *J. Pain* (Suppl. 1), S3–S12 (2006).
- Cummins TR, Sheets PL, Waxman SG. The roles of sodium channels in nociception: implications for mechanisms of pain. *Pain* 131(3), 243–257 (2007).
- Dib-Hajj SD, Binshtok AM, Cummins TR, Jarvis MF, Samad T, Zimmermann K. Voltage-gated sodium channels in pain states: role in pathophysiology and targets for treatment. *Brain Res. Rev.* 60(1), 65–83 (2009).
- Cummins TR, Aglieco F, Renganathan M, Herzog RI, Dib-Hajj SD, Waxman SG. Nav1.3 sodium channels: rapid repriming and slow closedstate inactivation display quantitative differences after expression in a mammalian cell line and in spinal sensory neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 21(16), 5952–5961 (2001).
- Dib-Hajj SD, Cummins TR, Black JA, Waxman SG. Sodium channels in normal and pathological pain. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 33, 325–347 (2010).
- Cummins TR, Rush AM. Voltage-gated sodium channel blockers for the treatment of neuropathic pain. *Expert Rev. Neurother*. 7(11), 1597– 1612 (2007).

- 32. Dib-Hajj SD, Cummins TR, Black JA, Waxman SG. From genes to pain: Na v 1.7 and human pain disorders. *Trends Neurosci.* 30(11), 555–563 (2007).
- Demonstrates how a single gene mutation in a voltage-gated sodium channel can induce neuropathicpain.
- Drenth JP, Waxman SG. Mutations in sodium-channel gene SCN9A cause a spectrum of human genetic pain disorders. J. Clin. Invest. 117(12), 3603–3609 (2007).
- Ishikawa K, Tanaka M, Black JA, Waxman SG. Changes in expression of voltage-gated potassium channels in dorsal root ganglion neurons following axotomy. *Muscle Nerve* 22(4), 502–507 (1999).
- 35. Kim DS, Choi JO, Rim HD, Cho HJ. Downregulation of voltage-gated potassium channel alpha gene expression in dorsal root ganglia following chronic constriction injury of the rat sciatic nerve. *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.* 105(1–2), 146–152 (2002).
- 36. Yang EK, Takimoto K, Hayashi Y, de Groat WC, Yoshimura N. Altered expression of potassium channel subunit mRNA and α-dendrotoxin sensitivity of potassium currents in rat dorsal root ganglion neurons after axotomy. *Neuroscience* 123(4), 867–874 (2004).
- Blackburn-Munro G, Jensen BS. The anticonvulsant retigabine attenuates nociceptive behaviours in rat models of persistent and neuropathicpain. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 460(2–3), 109–116 (2003).
- Dost R, Rostock A, Rundfeldt C. The anti-hyperalgesic activity of retigabine is mediated by KCNQ potassium channel activation. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol. 369(4), 382–390 (2004).
- 39. Schäfers M, Sommer C, Geis C, Hagenacker T, Vandenabeele P, Sorkin LS. Selective stimulation of either tumor necrosis factor receptor differentially induces pain behavior *in vivo* and ectopic activity in sensory neurons *in vitro*.

Neuroscience 157(2), 414-423 (2008).

- This article shows the role of TNF- $\alpha$  in neuropathic pain.
- Sorkin LS, Doom CM. Epineurial application of TNF elicits an acute mechanical hyperalgesia in the awake rat. J. Peripher. Nerv. Syst. 5(2), 96–100 (2000).
- 41. Sommer C, Schmidt C, George A. Hyperalgesia in experimental neuropathy is dependent on the TNF receptor 1. *Exp. Neurol.* 151(1), 138–142 (1998).
- Shubayev VI, Myers RR. Anterograde TNF *α* transport from rat dorsal root ganglion to spinal cord and injured sciatic nerve. *Neurosci. Lett.* 320(1–2), 99–101 (2002).
- Schäfers M, Sorkin LS, Sommer C. Intramuscular injection of tumor necrosis factor-α induces muscle hyperalgesia in rats. *Pain* 104(3), 579– 588 (2003).

- 44. Empl M, Renaud S, Erne B *et al.* TNF- $\alpha$  expression in painful and nonpainful neuropathies. *Neurology* 56(10), 1371 (2001).
- 45. Sommer C. Chapter 17 Cytokines and pain. *Handb. Clin. Neurol.* 81, 231–248(2006).
- 46. Cunha JM, Cunha FQ, Poole S, Ferreira SH. Cytokine-mediated inflammatory hyperalgesia limited by interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 130(6), 1418–1424 (2000).
- Sommer C, Kress M. Recent findings on how proinflammatory cytokines cause pain: peripheral mechanisms in inflammatory and neuropathic hyperalgesia. *Neurosci. Lett.* 361(1–3), 184–187 (2004).
- Kleinschnitz C, Brinkhoff J, Sommer C, Stoll G. Contralateral cytokine gene induction after peripheral nerve lesions: dependence on the mode of injury and NMDA receptor signaling. *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.* 136(1–2),23–28 (2005).
- 49. Uçeyler N, Sommer C. Status of immune mediators in painful neuropathies. *Curr. Pain Headache Rep.* 12(3), 159–164 (2008).
- Staaf S, Oerther S, Lucas G, Mattsson JP, Ernfors P. Differential regulation of TRP channels in a rat model of neuropathic pain. *Pain* 144(1–2), 187–199 (2009).
- 51. Caterina MJ, Leffler A, Malmberg AB *et al.* Impaired nociception and pain sensation in mice lacking the capsaicin receptor. *Science* 288(5464), 306–313 (2000).
- 52. Hudson LJ, Bevan S, Wotherspoon G, Gentry C, Fox A, Winter J. VR1 protein expression increases in undamaged DRG neurons after partial nerve injury. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 13(11), 2105–2114 (2001).
- 53. Baron R. Capsaicin and nociception: from basic mechanisms to novel drugs. *Lancet* 356(9232), 785–787 (2000).
- 54. Woolf CJ, Costigan M. Transcriptional and posttranslational plasticity and the generation of inflammatory pain. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA* 96(14), 7723–7730 (1999).
- Lu SG, Zhang XL, Luo ZD, Gold MS. Persistent inflammation alters the density and distribution of voltage-activated calcium channels in subpopulations of rat cutaneous DRG neurons. *Pain* 151(3),633–643 (2010).
- Hudmon A, Choi JS, Tyrrell L *et al.* Phosphorylation of Sodium channel Nav1.8 by p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase increases current density in dorsal root ganglion neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 28(12), 3190–3201 (2008).
- Stamboulian S, Choi J-S, Ahn HS *et al.* ERK1/2 mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphorylates sodium channel Na(v)1.7 and altersits gating properties. *J. Neurosci.* 30(5), 1637–1647 (2010).
- Abbadie C, Besson JM. C-fos expression in rat lumbar spinal cord following peripheral stimulation in adjuvant-induced arthritic and normal rats. *Brain Res.* 607(1–2), 195–204 (1993).

- Gold BG, Austin DR, Storm-Dickerson T. Multiple signals underlie the axotomy-induced up-regulation of c-JUN in adult sensory neurons. *Neurosci. Lett.* 176(1), 123–127 (1994).
- Herdegen T, Leah JD. Inducible and constitutive transcription factors in the mammalian nervous system: control of gene expression by Jun, Fos and Krox, and CREB/ATF proteins. *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.* 28(3), 370–490 (1998).
- 61. Nyström B, Hagbarth KE. Microelectrode recordings from transected nerves in amputees with phantom limb pain. *Neurosci. Lett.* 27(2), 211–216 (1981).
- Chabal C, Jacobson L, Russell LC, Burchiel KJ. Pain responses to perineuromal injection of normal saline, gallamine, and lidocaine in humans. *Pain* 36(3), 321–325 (1989).
- Rowbotham MC, Fields HL. The relationship of pain, allodynia and thermal sensation in post-herpetic neuralgia. *Brain* 119( Pt 2), 347–354 (1996).
- 64. Rowbotham MC, Fields HL. Topical lidocaine reduces pain in post-herpetic neuralgia. *Pain* 38(3), 297–301 (1989).
- Cline MA, Ochoa J, Torebjörk HE. Chronic hyperalgesia and skin warming caused by sensitized C nociceptors. *Brain* 112( Pt 3), 621–647(1989).
- 66. Campero M, Serra J, Marchettini P, Ochoa JL. Ectopic impulse generation and autoexcitation in single myelinated afferent fibers in patients with peripheral neuropathy and positive sensory symptoms. *Muscle Nerve* 21(12), 1661–1667 (1998).
- 67. Ochoa JL, Campero M, Serra J, Bostock H. Hyperexcitable polymodal and insensitive nociceptors in painful human neuropathy. *Muscle Nerve* 32(4), 459–472 (2005).

•• Demonstrates that burning pain is associated with abnormal firing of damaged unmyelinated fibers.

- 68. Treede RD, Meyer RA, Raja SN, Campbell JN. Peripheral and central mechanisms of cutaneous hyperalgesia. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 38(4), 397–421 (1992).
- Ji RR, Kohno T, Moore KA, Woolf CJ. Central sensitization and LTP: do pain and memory share similar mechanisms? *Trends Neurosci.* 26(12), 696–705 (2003).

•• This review draws parallels between central sensitization and long-term potentiation.

70. Jensen TS, Baron R. Translation of symptoms and signs into mechanisms in neuropathic pain. *Pain* 102(1–2), 1–8 (2003).

• This review demonstrates how symptoms and signs can be translated in mechanisms.

 Craig AD. Retrograde analyses of spinothalamic projections in the macaque monkey: input to ventral posterior nuclei. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 499(6), 965–978 (2006).

- 72. D'Mello R, Dickenson AH. Spinal cord mechanisms of pain. *Br. J. Anaesth.* 101(1), 8–16 (2008).
- Dubner R. Recent advances in our understanding of pain In: Oro-Facial Pain and Neuromuscular Dysfunction: Mechanism and Clinical Corelates. Klineberg, Sessle B, (Eds). Pergamon Press (Oxford, England), 3–17 (1985).
- Sessle BJ. Physiology of the trigeminal system. In: *Trigeminal Neuralgia: Current Concepts Regarding Pathogenesis and Treatment*. FrommGH, Sessle BJ (Eds). Butterworth-Heinemann MA, USA, 71–105 (1991).
- Chen SR, Pan HL. Hypersensitivity of spinothalamic tract neurons associated with diabetic neuropathic pain in rats. *J. Neurophysiol.* 87(6), 2726–2733 (2002).
- Willis WD. Long-term potentiation in spinothalamic neurons. *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.* 40(1–3), 202–214 (2002).
- Hains BC, Klein JP, Saab CY, Craner MJ, Black JA, Waxman SG. Upregulation of sodium channel Nav1.3 and functional involvement in neuronal hyperexcitability associated with central neuropathic pain after spinal cord injury. *J. Neurosci.* 23(26), 8881–8892 (2003).
- WoodJN.Chapter5Molecularmechanismsofnociceptionandpain.*Handb. Clin.Neurol.*81,49–59 (2006).
- 79. Truini A, Cruccu G. Pathophysiological mechanisms of neuropathic pain. *Neurol. Sci.* 27(Suppl.2), S179–S182 (2006).
- Koike H, Iijima M, Mori K *et al.* Neuropathic pain correlates with myelinated fibre loss and cytokine profile in POEMS syndrome. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 79(10), 1171–1179 (2008).
- Porreca F, Burgess SE, Gardell LR *et al.* Inhibition of neuropathic pain by selective ablation of brainstem medullary cells expressing the μ-opioid receptor. *J. Neurosci.* 21(14), 5281–5288 (2001).
- Watkins LR, Milligan ED, Maier SF. Spinal cord glia: new players in pain.*Pain* 93(3), 201–205 (2001).
- Inoue H, Sawada M, Ryo A *et al.* Serial analysis of gene expression in a microglial cell line. *Glia* 28(3), 265–271 (1999).
- Malcangio M, Bowery NG, Flower RJ, Perretti M. Effect of interleukin-1 β on the release of substance P from rat isolated spinal cord. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 299(1–3), 113–118 (1996).
- 85. Song P, Zhao ZQ. The involvement of glial cells in the development of morphine tolerance. *Neurosci. Res.* 39(3), 281–286 (2001).
- Mika J. Modulation of microglia can attenuate neuropathic pain symptoms and enhance morphine effectiveness. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 60(3), 297–307 (2008).
- Watkins LR, Hutchinson MR, Rice KC, Maier SF. The 'toll' of opioid-induced glial activation: improving the clinical efficacyofopioidsbytargetingglia.*TrendsPharmacol.Sci.*30(11),581–591 (2009).

- Abbadie C, Bhangoo S, De Koninck Y, Malcangio M, Melik-Parsadaniantz S, White FA. Chemokines and pain mechanisms. *Brain Res. Rev.* 60(1), 125–134 (2009).
- 89. Chapman GA, Moores K, Harrison D, Campbell CA, Stewart BR, Strijbos PJ. Fractalkine cleavage from neuronal membranes represents an acute event in the inflammatory response to excitotoxic brain damage. *J. Neurosci.* 20(15),RC87 (2000).
- 90. Milligan ED, Zapata V, Chacur M *et al.* Evidence that exogenous and endogenous fractalkine can induce spinal nociceptive facilitation in rats. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 20(9), 2294–2302 (2004).
- 91. Bouhassira D, Attal N, Fermanian J *et al.* Development and validation of the Neuropathic Pain Symptom Inventory. *Pain* 108(3), 248–257 (2004).

•• Outlines the development and validation of the Douleur Neuropathique 4 Questions (i.e., neuropathic pain four questions), the most widely used screening tool.

- 92. Truini A, Biasiotta A, La Cesa S *et al.* Mechanisms of pain in distal symmetric polyneuropathy: a combined clinical and neurophysiological study. *Pain* 150, 516–521 (2010).
- Truini A, Galeotti F, Haanpaa M *et al.* Pathophysiology of pain in postherpetic neuralgia: a clinical and neurophysiological study. *Pain* 140, 405–410 (2008).
- Truini A, Padua L, Biasiotta A *et al.* Differential involvement of A-δ and A-β fibres in neuropathic pain related to carpal tunnel syndrome. *Pain* 145, 105–109 (2009).
- 95. Torvin Møller A, Winther Bach F, Feldt-Rasmussen U *et al.* Functional and structural nerve fiber findings in heterozygote patients with Fabry disease. *Pain* 145(1–2),237–245 (2009).
- Vlcková-Moravcová E, Bednarík J, Dusek L, Toyka KV, Sommer C. Diagnostic validity of epidermal nerve fiber densities in painful sensory neuropathies. *Muscle Nerve* 37(1), 50–60 (2008).
- 97. Willis WD. Long-term potentiation in spinothalamic neurons. *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.* 40(1–3), 202–214 (2002).
- Campero M, Baumann TK, Bostock H, Ochoa JL. Human cutaneous C fibres activated by cooling, heating and menthol. J. Physiol. 587(Pt 23), 5633–5652 (2009).
- Ochoa JL, Yarnitsky D. The triple cold syndrome. Cold hyperalgesia, cold hypoaesthesia and cold skin in peripheral nerve disease. *Brain* 117( Pt 1), 185–197 (1994).
- Liu CN, Wall PD, Ben-Dor E, Michaelis M, Amir R, Devor M. Tactile allodynia in the absence of C-fiber activation: altered firing properties of DRG neurons following spinal nerve injury. *Pain* 85(3),503–521 (2000).

- 101. Daniele CA, MacDermott AB. Low-threshold primary afferent drive onto GABAergic interneurons in the superficial dorsal horn of the mouse. *J. Neurosci.* 29(3), 686–695 (2009).
- Otto M, Bak S, Bach FW, Jensen TS, Sindrup SH. Pain phenomena and possible mechanisms in patients with painful polyneuropathy. *Pain* 101(1–2), 187–192 (2003).
- Serra J, Solà R, Quiles C *et al.* C-nociceptors sensitized to cold in a patient with small-fiber neuropathy and cold allodynia. *Pain* 147(1–3), 46–53 (2009).

•• Provides evidence that cold allodynia may be related to abnormal peripheral nociceptor behavior.

- 104. Treede RD. Chapter 1 Pain and hyperalgesia: definitions and theories. *Handb. Clin. Neurol.* 81,3–10 (2006).
- Serra J, Campero M, Ochoa J. Flare and hyperalgesia after intradermal capsaicin injection in human skin. *J. Neurophysiol.* 80(6), 2801–2810 (1998).
- 106. Serra J. Overview of neuropathic pain syndromes. *Acta Neurol Scand* 173(Suppl.), 7–11 (1999).
- Koltzenburg M, Torebjörk HE, Wahren LK. Nociceptor modulated central sensitization causes mechanical hyperalgesia in acute chemogenic and chronic neuropathic pain. *Brain* 117, 579–591 (1994).
- 108. Klein T, Magerl W, Rolke R, Treede RD. Human surrogate models of neuropathic pain. *Pain* 115, 227–233 (2005).
- Baron R, Saguer M. Postherpetic neuralgia. Are C-nociceptors involved in signalling and maintenance of tactile allodynia? *Brain* 116, 1477–1496 (1993)
- 110. Torebjork E. Human microneurography and intraneural microstimulation in the study of neuropathic pain. *Muscle Nerve* 16, 1063–1065 (1993).
- Ochoa JL, Yarnitsky D. Mechanical hyperalgesias in neuropathic pain patients: dynamic and static subtypes. *Ann. Neurol.* 33(5), 465–472 (1993).
- Gracely RH, Lynch SA, Bennett GJ. Painful neuropathy: altered central processing maintained dynamically by peripheral input. *Pain* 51(2), 175–194 (1992).
- Baron R, Tölle TR, Gockel U, Brosz M, Freynhagen R. A cross-sectional cohort survey in 2100 patients with painful diabetic neuropathy and postherpetic neuralgia: differences in demographic data and sensory symptoms. *Pain* 146(1–2), 34–40 (2009).

• Demonstrates how quantitative sensory testing can distinguish different sensory profiles in patients with neuropathic pain.

114. Cruccu G, Truini A. Sensory profiles: a new strategy for selecting patients in treatment trials for neuropathic pain. *Pain* 146(1–2), 5–6 (2009).

 Attal N, Cruccu G, Baron R *et al.* EFNS guidelines on the pharmacological treatment of neuropathic pain: 2010 revision. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 17(9), 1113–E88 (2010).

•• European guidelines on pharmacological management of neuropathic pain.

- 116. Mogil JS. The genetic mediation of individual differences in sensitivity to pain and its inhibition. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA* 96(14), 7744– 7751(1999).
- Costigan M, Belfer I, Griffin RS *et al.* Multiple chronic pain states are associated with a common amino acid-changing allele in KCNS1. *Brain* 133(9), 2519–2527 (2010).

• Provides evidence that the development of pain may be associated with a specificgenotype.

- 118. Zarate YA, Hopkin RJ. Fabry's disease. Lancet 372(9647), 1427–1435 (2008).
- 119. Diatchenko L, Slade GD, Nackley AG *et al.* Genetic basis for individual variations in pain perception and the development of a chronic pain condition. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 14(1),135–143 (2005).
- 120. Nackley AG, Shabalina SA, Tchivileva IE *et al.* Human catechol-O-methyltransferase haplotypes modulate protein expression by altering mRNA secondary structure. *Science* 314(5807), 1930–1933 (2006).
- Reimann F, Cox JJ, Belfer I *et al.* Pain perception is altered by a nucleotide polymorphism in *SCN9A*. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA* 107(11), 5148– 5153 (2010).
- 122. Estacion M, Harty TP, Choi JS, Tyrrell L, Dib-Hajj SD, Waxman SG: A sodium channel gene *SCN9A* polymorphism that increases nociceptor excitability. *Ann. Neurol.* 66(6), 862–866 (2009).
- 123. Liu CN, Devor M, Waxman SG, Kocsis JD. Subthreshold oscillations induced by spinal nerve injury in dissociated muscle and cutaneous afferents of mouse DRG. *J. Neurophysiol.* 87(4), 2009–2017 (2002).
- 124. Chen SR, Pan HL. Hypersensitivity of spinothalamic tract neurons associated with diabetic neuropathic pain in rats. *J. Neurophysiol.* 87(6), 2726–2733 (2002).

Study II

# Topographical distribution of warmth, burning and itch sensations in healthy humans

A. Truini, C. Leone, G. Di Stefano, A. Biasiotta, S. La Cesa, P. Teofoli,

L. Padua, G. Cruccu

(Neuroscience Letters 494 (2011) 165-168)

# Introduction

Unmyelinated C-fibre units mediate widely ranging sensations in humans, and are usually distinguished according to their response to mechanical, heat and chemical stimuli. C-units responding to mechanical and heat stimuli include mechano-heat-sensitive (CMH) or C-polymodal nociceptors [6,24]; other C-unit receptors are insensitive to mechanical stimuli though they may respond to heat. Whereas C-polymodal nociceptors and most C-units insensitive to mechanical stimuli respond to capsaicin application, mechano-insensitive C-units alone respond to histamine application [7,20,22].

In humans, laser stimuli activate  $A\delta$ - and C-fibre related receptors, evoking brain responses and a variety of sensations [18,27]. Large-spot and low-intensity laser pulses selectively activate warmth C receptors because they have a markedly lower thermal activation threshold and density than the other C-fibres related receptors [5,28]. Capsaicin strongly activates polymodal nociceptors through vanilloid-gated ion channels [3], predominantly producing burning sensations. Histamine directly activates mechano-insensitive C-units and is widely used to induce experimental itch [9,10].

The currently preferred techniques for investigating C-unit properties in humans are microneurography and skin biopsy [17,23,25]. Although microneurographic studies can accurately identify the various C-unit subclasses they provide no information on their body distribution. Similarly, although skin biopsy studies detect a higher density of epidermal free nerve endings in proximal than in distal leg sites they can neither distinguish between Aδ- and C-units, nor between the various C-unit subpopulations. No information is available on how the various C-units are distributed in the various body sites, a key point in understanding pain and itch arising from unmyelinated pathway damage.

In this psychophysical study, to seek information on the body distribution of C-units related to sensations of warmth, pain and itch we delivered laser stimuli, applied capsaicin cream and pricked histamine onto the skin in hairy body sites at various distances from the brain in healthy subjects and investigated differences in the following outcome variables: magnitude of sensations, diameter of the flare, and secondary hyperalgesia and alloknesis (the itchy area surrounding the wheal and flare).

### Material and methods

Twelve healthy subjects (age 25–35 years) who gave their informed consent, participated in the study. None of them had known allergies. All the subjects underwent the application of all the three stimuli in each body site tested. This study was conducted according to the principles expressed in the Declaration of Helsinki. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Department of Neurological Sciences, University Sapienza.

To investigate warmth sensation we used a neodymium:yttriumaluminium-perovskite laser (Nd:YAP by El.En., Florence): wavelength 1.34 nm, pulse duration 2–20 ms, maximum energy 7 J, under fiberoptic guidance. Laser pulses of lower intensity (38–76 mJ/mm2), relatively long duration (10 ms) and large diameter (10 mm), elicited a warmth sensation related to C-fibre input. Warm laser stimuli were calibrated in the foot. For each subject the same laser intensity evoking a gentle, painless warmth sensation was maintained for all body sites. Ten laser stimuli were delivered. The laser beam was shifted slightly after each stimulus. The interstimulus interval was varied pseudorandomly (10–15 s). To exclude A $\delta$ -fibre activation we concomitantly recorded EEG activity to detect A $\delta$ -fibre related scalp potentials.

One millimetre of 3% capsaicin in a cream base (Teofarma) was applied topically with a cotton swab to a skin area measuring 1 cm2. The area of application was standardized by using a cutout to mark the area to fill with capsaicin. In all subjects, the skin area to which cap-



**Fig. 1.** Illustrative photos of laser stimulation, capsaicin cream application and histamine prick at the various body sites (face, shoulder, hand, thigh, and foot).

saicin was applied was surrounded by a halo of reactive hyperaemia (flare). The skin area outside the flare, in which mechanical stimuli elicited an evident hyperalgaesic response was considered as the zone of secondary hyperalgesia [26].

0.1% histamine was dropped onto the skin and pricked with a conventional lancet tip, as is done in standard allergy tests. In all subjects histamine prick induced a wheal and flare. The skin area that surrounded the flare, and where touching and stroking the skin lightly with a cotton swab caused itching, was considered as the zone of alloknesis [29].

Laser stimuli, capsaicin cream, and histamine prick were applied on the face (above the supraorbital notch), the shoulder (just below the acromion), the dorsum of the hand, the thigh (the skin above the knee) and the dorsum of the foot (Fig. 1) of the right side. The order of the body sites was changed randomly. The three stimulus conditions (prick histamine, warm-laser stimuli, and capsaicin) were divided in two experimental sessions on separate days. Prick histamine and warm-laser stimuli were applied in one session (about 20 min elapsed between the two stimuli conditions) and capsaicin in the other session. The order of the two sessions was randomly determined.

Subjects were instructed to rate the intensity of sensation on an 11-point numerical rating scale ranging from 0 (no sensation) to 10 (strongest imaginable sensation). The other outcome variables measured during capsaicin and histamine sessions were the longest axis of the evoked flare, the area of secondary hyperalgesia and alloknesis.

One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) for repeated measures, post test for linear trend and the post hoc Tukey's multiple comparison test were used to analyze differences in the magnitude of thermal, pain and itch sensations at the various body sites. P values < 0.5 are considered to indicate statistical significance.

#### Results

In all subjects laser stimuli, capsaicin cream and histamine prick induced distinct warmth, burning, and itch sensations. No subjects reported itch after capsaicin application. The concomitant EEG recording in laser experiments showed no A $\delta$ -fibre related neural signal, thus showing that laser stimuli activated the thermal pathway alone.

The warmth, burning, and itch sensations differed in magnitude at the various body sites (P < 0.0001, ANOVA). Post hoc analysis found a significant linear trend according to distance from the brain (P < 0.0001; ANOVA, post test for linear trend). Whereas the warmth and pain sensations became weaker and the capsaicin-induced flare and secondary hyperalgesia decreased in diameter from face to foot, the itch sensation became stronger



and the histamine-induced flare increased in diameter (P < 0.0001) (Fig. 2). The diameter of alloknesis showed no significant trend (P = 0.3).

**Fig. 2.** Magnitude of warmth (A), burning (B), and itch sensations (C); diameter of the flare evoked by capsaicin cream application (D) and histamine prick (E); diameter of secondary hyperalgesia evoked by capsaicin cream application (F) at the various body sites, ranked according to their distance from the brain: (face: 1, shoulder: 2, hand: 3, thigh: 4, and foot: 5). Dots are the mean ± 1SE. The continuous lines indicate linear regression and dashed lines the 95% confidence limits.

### Discussion

The new finding in this psychophysical study in humans is that whereas the magnitude of warmth and pain sensations is stronger at proximal than at distal body sites, itch sensation shows an opposite trend. These findings extend current knowledge on the body distribution of C-units related to sensations of warmth, pain and itch in humans suggesting that unlike thermal and pain receptors, itch receptors (pruriceptors) are denser at distal than at proximal body sites.

Our findings on the topographical distribution of warmth and burning receptors partly agree with previous findings from skin biopsy studies showing that intraepidermal nerve fibres are denser (60% higher) at proximal than at distal body sites [16]. However, skin biopsy studies do not distinguish between Að- and C-related receptors and the different subpopulations of C-units. By eliciting sensations with three types of stimulation we distinguished between C-units related to sensations of warmth, pain and itch.

In a previous study using a CO2 laser, we found that the threshold for pinprick sensation (A $\delta$ -units) significantly increased with distance from brain, i.e. indicating a higher receptor density at proximal sites as found here for burning C-units; laser warmth thresholds, in contrast, did not correlate significantly with distance [1]. In that study the sensory thresholds rather than the magnitude of sensation was investigated because with the CO2-laser pulses it was more difficult to separate warmth and pinprick sensations. Furthermore it was often impossible to evoke a warm sensation at the foot, which made it far more difficult to reach a statistical significance [1]. These data suggest that the more recent YAP laser stimulator, evoking a distinct warmth sensation in all subjects, is a more adequate tool for thermal pathway assessment [5,28].

Our findings, demonstrating an opposite trend between histamineand capsaicin-induced sensations across the different body sites, argue against possible overlap in C-units responsive to capsaicin and histamine [22,30] and indirectly suggest that histamine selectively activates a specific C-unit subpopulation. Our findings therefore agree with recent experiments in healthy subjects showing that capsaicin desensitization leaves histamine-induced itch almost unchanged [11].

In our study we investigated the body distribution of secondary hyperalgesia and alloknesis. It is largely acknowledged that secondary hyperalgesia is mediated by myelinated mechanoreceptor units, but it requires the ongoing activity of primary afferent C-nociceptors [21]. Similarly, several studies demonstrated that ongoing activity of primary afferent C-pruriceptors evoke central sensitization of the itch pathway that manifests with touch- or brush-evoked itch around the itch site (alloknesis) [21,29]. In our study the area of secondary hyperalgesia differed between body sites at various distances from the brain, and the area of alloknesis did not. Whether this unexpected finding reflects a specific biological difference in central itch pathway organization or depends on a limitation of our experimental procedure remains unclear. Unlike secondary hyperalgesia, because the area of alloknesis is small (a diameter less than 1 cm) [9], and the intensity of itch induced by touch and brush is mild, alloknesis is difficult to measure.

It could be argued that the weaker intensity of warm and burning sensation at the distal body areas might be partly due to the signal dispersion along slow-conducting afferents such as C-fibres. However because the three sensory modalities we investigated (warmth, burning and itch sensations) are mediated by C-fibres, a homogeneous effect of the dispersion along the afferent pathways on the three sensory modalities should be expected. Thus a presumed signal dispersion along the conduction distance presumably does not change our results.

Differences in skin microvasculature, thickness of the stratum corneum and baseline skin temperature in the various body sites may affect our data. However the influence of skin microvasculature on flare should be similar for both histamine and capsaicin application (in contrast we found an opposite trend). Although the stratum corneum is thicker at sun-exposed sites [8,13], laser stimuli are not influenced by the thickness of the stratum corneum [14], and the body distribution of histamine-related itch and flare does not follow the stratum corneum thickness differences. The difference of baseline temperature is lower at the distal than at the proximal body sites, being skin temperature of the hand about 2 °C higher than that of the foot [2]. However this difference can hardly influence the laser- and capsaicin-induced sensations. In normal conditions the skin temperature is below the threshold for the laser warmth sensation [14] and that for activating TRPV1 channels [4].

As a previous study [15] showed that 8% capsaicin patch applied for 30 min does not significantly change epidermal nerve fibre density nor thermal detection threshold, we exclude that the 3% capsaicin we used in our experiments could induce massive axonal degeneration therefore affecting sensory perception. We did not assess histamine-independent itch pathways. Clinical and experimental evidence shows that other mediators (e.g., cowhage spicules) elicit itch by activating C-units that do not respond to histamine [19]. A recent study in monkeys showed that cowhage activates polymodal nociceptors [12]. Our findings encourage further research designed to verify whether the topographical distribution of the psychophysical response to cowhage parallels that of histamine.

Our psychophysical study in healthy volunteers showing that the topographical distribution of pruriceptors differs from that of C-units responding to thermal stimuli and capsaicin, provides new information supporting the idea that specific unmyelinated C-units mediate sensations of warmth, burning and itch. These findings may be useful in understanding pain and itch arising from unmyelinated pathway damage.

### References

- R. Agostino, G. Cruccu, G. Iannetti, A. Romaniello, A. Truini, M. Manfredi, Topographical distribution of pinprick and warmth thresholds to CO2 laser stimulation on the human skin, Neurosci. Lett. 285 (2000) 115–118.
- [2] R.S. Burnham, R.S. McKinley, D.D. Vincent, Three types of skin-surface ther- mometers: a comparison of reliability, validity, and responsiveness, Am. J. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 85 (2006) 553–558.
- [3] M.J. Caterina, Transient receptor potential ion channels as participants in ther- mosensation and thermoregulation, Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 292 (2007) 64–76.
- [4] M.J. Caterina, D. Julius, The vanilloid receptor: a molecular gateway to the pain pathway, Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 24 (2001) 487–517.
- [5] G. Cruccu, E. Pennisi, A. Truini, G.D. Iannetti, A. Romaniello, D. Le Pera, L. De Armas, M. Leandri, M. Manfredi, M. Valeriani, Unmyelinated trigeminal path- ways as assessed by laser stimuli in humans, Brain 126 (2003) 2246–2256.
- [6] H.O. Handwerker, Nociceptors: neurogenic inflammation, Handb. Clin. Neurol. 81 (2006) 23–33.
- [7] H.O. Handwerker, Microneurography of pruritus, Neurosci. Lett. 470 (2010) 193–196.
- [8] M. Huzaira, F. Rius, M. Rajadhyaksha, R.R. Anderson, S. González, Topographic variations in normal skin, as viewed by in vivo reflectance confocal microscopy, J. Invest. Dermatol. 116 (2001) 846–852.
- [9] A. Ikoma, H. Handwerker, Y. Miyachi, M. Schmelz, Electrically evoked itch in humans, Pain 113 (2005) 148–154.

- [10] A. Ikoma, M. Steinhoff, S. Ständer, G. Yosipovitch, M. Schmelz, The neurobiology of itch, Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 7 (2006) 535–547.
- [11] L.M. Johanek, R.A. Meyer, T. Hartke, J.G. Hobelmann, D.N. Maine, R.H. LaM- otte, M. Ringkamp, Psychophysical and physiological evidence for parallel afferent pathways mediating the sensation of itch, J. Neurosci. 27 (2007) 7490–7497.
- [12] L.M. Johanek, R.A. Meyer, R.M. Friedman, K.W. Greenquist, B. Shim, J. Borzan, T. Hartke, R.H. LaMotte, M. Ringkamp, A role for polymodal C-fiber afferents in nonhistaminergic itch, J. Neurosci. 28 (2008) 7659– 7669.
- [13] Y. Lee, K. Hwang, Skin thickness of Korean adults, Surg. Radiol. Anat. 24 (2002) 183–189.
- [14] M. Leandri, M. Saturno, L. Spadavecchia, G.D. Iannetti, G. Cruccu, A. Truini, Mea- surement of skin temperature after infrared laser stimulation, Neurophysiol. Clin. 36 (2006) 207–218.
- [15] A.B. Malmberg, A.P. Mizisin, N.A. Calcutt, T. von Stein, W.R. Robbins, K.R. Bley, Reduced heat sensitivity and epidermal nerve fiber immunostaining following single applications of a high-concentration capsaicin patch, Pain 111 (2004) 360–367.
- [16] J.C. McArthur, E.A. Stocks, P. Hauer, D.R. Cornblath, J.W. Griffin, Epidermal nerve fiber density: normative reference range and diagnostic efficiency, Arch. Neu- rol. 55 (1998) 1513–1520.
- [17] M. Nolano, V. Provitera, A. Estraneo, M.M. Selim, G. Caporaso, A. Stancanelli, A.M. Saltalamacchia, B. Lanzillo, L. Santoro, Sensory deficit in Parkinson's disease: evidence of a cutaneous denervation, Brain 131 (2008) 1903–1911.
- [18] Y. Qiu, Q. Fu, X. Wang, T.D. Tran, K. Inui, S. Iwase, R. Kakigi, Microneurographic study of C fiber discharges induced by CO2 laser stimulation in humans, Neu- rosci. Lett. 353 (2003) 25–28.
- [19] V.B. Reddy, A.O. Iuga, S.G. Shimada, R.H. LaMotte, E.A. Lerner, Cowhage-evoked itch is mediated by a novel cysteine protease: a ligand of protease-activated receptors, J. Neurosci. 28 (2008) 4331–4335.
- [20] M. Schmelz, R. Schmidt, A. Bickel, H.O. Handwerker, H.E. Torebjörk, Specific C-receptors for itch in human skin, J. Neurosci. 17 (1997) 8003– 8008.
- [21] M. Schmelz, M. Hilliges, R. Schmidt, K. Ørstavik, C. Vahlquist, C. Weidner, H.O. Handwerker, H.E. Torebjörk, Active "itch fibers" in chronic pruritus, Neurology 61 (2003) 564–566.
- [22] M. Schmelz, R. Schmidt, C. Weidner, M. Hilliges, H.E. Torebjörk, H.O. Handw- erker, Chemical response pattern of different classes of C-nociceptors to pruritogens and algogens, J. Neurophysiol. 89 (2003) 2441– 2448.

- [23] J. Serra, Microneurography: an opportunity for translational drug development in neuropathic pain, Neurosci. Lett. 470 (2010) 155–157.
- [24] J. Serra, M. Campero, H. Bostock, J. Ochoa, Two types of C nociceptors in human skin and their behavior in areas of capsaicin-induced secondary hyperalgesia, J. Neurophysiol. 91 (2004) 2770–2781.
- [25] J. Serra, H. Bostock, X. Navarro, Microneurography in rats: a minimally invasive method to record single C-fiber action potentials from peripheral nerves in vivo, Neurosci. Lett. 470 (2010) 168–174.
- [26] R.D. Treede, R.A. Meyer, S.N. Raja, J.N. Campbell, Peripheral and central mech- anisms of cutaneous hyperalgesia, Prog. Neurobiol. 38 (1992) 397–421.
- [27] A. Truini, A. Romaniello, F. Galeotti, G.D. Iannetti, G. Cruccu, Laser evoked poten- tials for assessing sensory neuropathy in human patients, Neurosci. Lett. 361 (2004) 25–28.
- [28] A. Truini, F. Galeotti, G. Cruccu, L. Garcia-Larrea, Inhibition of cortical responses to Adelta inputs by a preceding C-related response: testing the "first come, first served" hypothesis of cortical laser evoked potentials, Pain 131 (2007) 341–347.
- [29] G. Yosipovitch, E. Carstens, F. McGlone, Chronic itch and chronic pain: analo- gous mechanisms, Pain 131 (2007) 4–7.
- [30] E. Weisshaar, G. Heyer, C. Forster, H.O. Handwerker, Effect of topical capsaicin on the cutaneous reactions and itch to histamine in atopic eczema compared to healthy skin, Arch. Dermatol. Res. 290 (1998) 306– 311.

Study III

# Peripheral nociceptor sensitization mediates allodynia in patients with distal symmetric polyneuropathy

A. Truini, A. Biasiotta, G. Di Stefano, S. La Cesa, C. Leone, C. Cartoni,

F. Leonetti, M. Casato, M. Pergolini, M. T. Petrucci, G. Cruccu

(J Neurol (2013) 260:761-766)

### Introduction

In patients with peripheral neuropathy, neuropathic pain manifests with spontaneous and provoked symptoms [1]. Spontaneous symptoms include ongoing pain and paroxysmal pain, whereas provoked pain frequently manifests as dynamic mechanical allodynia, namely pain in response to normally non-painful brushing [2].

The reference standard test for diagnosing peripheral neuropathy is the nerve conduction study (NCS) [3]. NCS nevertheless has the disadvantage of assessing non-nociceptive, large-myelinated fibres (A $\beta$  fibres) alone and provides no information on nociceptive pathway function [3]. The current neurophysiological test for assessing nociceptive pathways entails recording laser-evoked potentials (LEPs) [3, 4]. Laser-generated radiant heat pulses selectively activate A $\delta$  and C mechano-thermal nociceptors, and evoke scalp potentials related to small myelinated (A $\delta$ ) fibres [5, 6]. LEPs are the most reliable and agreed-upon neurophysiological method for investigating nociceptive fibre function in patients with pain [6, 7].

Although patients with peripheral neuropathy frequently present with allodynia, its underlying mechanisms remain open to debate. Most investigators attribute allodynia to central mechanisms [8, 9]. In patients with peripheral neuropathy, the spontaneous firing in damaged nociceptive afferents may evoke ongoing pain and sensitise second-order neurons in the dorsal horn. Sensitised neurons respond to A $\beta$  fibre input with high-frequency activity that the brain perceives as painful [9, 10]. An alternative and opposite view suggests that provoked pains, including allodynia, could reflect a lowered mechanical threshold in sensitised intra- epidermal nociceptors [11, 12]. More reliable neurophysiological information on the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying allodynia related to distal symmetric polyneuropathy could be used to develop more effective therapeutic approaches for this type of pain.

We hypothesised that if A $\beta$ -fibres do mediate allodynia, then NCS responses should detect differences in A $\beta$ -fibre function in patients with and without this type of neuropathic pain. Hence in this prospective clinical and neurophysiological study, we recorded NCS, assessing A $\beta$ -fibre function, and LEPs, assessing nociceptive fibres, in patients with distal symmetric polyneuropathy, with and without allodynia. As the primary outcome variables, we assessed the amplitude of the sural nerve sensory action potential, and foot-LEPs.

### Methods

We prospectively collected 200 patients with distal symmetric polyneuropathy (114 with pain and 86 without). The diagnosis was based on clinical, biological, and electrodiagnostic findings, adhering to the criteria proposed by England et al. [13] (i.e., patients with symmetrically reduced or absent ankle reflexes, decreased distal sensation, and abnormal NCS or skin biopsy findings). We included patients with four different aetiologies: diabetes- related neuropathy (70), chemotherapy-induced neuropathy (53), cryoglobulin-related neuropathy (30), and neuropathy of unknown origin (47). Exclusion criteria were sensory disturbances due to neurological diseases other than distal symmetric polyneuropathy and cognitive impairment.

Two staff members examined the patients clinically, and the others did neurophysiological testing, with those recording NCS being blinded to LEP data and vice-versa. The research was approved by the Institutional Review Board and patients gave their informed consent.

All patients underwent clinical examination using bedside tools. Patients were grouped according to the clinically documented presence or absence of neuropathic pain, as assessed by the DN4 questionnaire [14]. The DN4 questionnaire is a clinician-administered screening tool that comprises various clinical items, including allodynia, and indicates neuropathic pain when the score is >4.

Patients with neuropathic pain were further divided in two groups: with and without allodynia, as assessed by the dedicated
items of the DN4 (all patients without allodynia complained of ongoing pain).

Patients underwent motor and sensory NCS testing using surface recording electrodes with standard placement. Methods used adhered to those recommended by experts of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology [15]. NCS testing comprised sensory nerve action potentials (SNAP) and antidromic conduction velocities recorded from sural and superficial radial nerves, and ortodromic conduction velocity from ulnar nerve. Other nerve function variables examined were compound motor action potential (CMAP) amplitude and peroneal, tibial and ulnar nerve condition velocities. We studied LEPs using a neodym- ium:yttrium-aluminium-perovskite (Nd:YAP) laser. The dorsum of the right foot and the left hand were stimulated by laser pulses at relatively high intensity (150-200 mJ/mm2), short duration (5 ms), and small diameter (\*5 mm), eliciting pinprick sensations. Subjects lay on a couch and wore protective goggles. To determine the laser perceptive threshold, we delivered a series of stimuli at increasing and decreasing intensity, and defined the perceptive threshold as the lowest intensity at which the subjects perceived at least 50 % of laser stimuli. The early, lateralized component, N1, and the main complex, N2-P2, were recorded through disc electrodes from the temporal areas (Tc) referenced to frontal area (Fz) and vertex (Cz) referenced to the nose. From 10 to 20 trials devoid of artefacts were collected and averaged offline. We measured peak latency and amplitude (peak-to- peak) of the temporal N1 component and the N2-P2 vertex complex. NCS and LEP data were compared with normative ranges established in our laboratory.

#### Statistical analysis

Because all patients had sensory disturbances predominantly distributed to the feet (in particular, allodynia affected feet only) we limited the statistical analysis to foot-related neurophysiological responses (see Tables 1, 2). Furthermore, only the most relevant neurophysiological variables (i.e., sural SNAP and foot-LEPs) will be presented and discussed in the text. Mann–Whitney U test was used to analyse the differences in non-normally distributed neurophysiological data (peroneal CMAP and sural SNAP, laser perceptive thresholds, N1 latency, N1 and N2-P2 LEP amplitude). Unpaired t- test was used to compare data with normal distribution (sensory and motor nerve conduction velocity, N2 latency). The differences in the frequency of neuropathic pain and allodynia across the different aetiologies were analysed with the v2 test. P values < 0.05 were considered to indicate significance. In the tables all results are reported as mean ± SD.

#### Results

Of the 200 selected patients with distal symmetric polyneuropathy (all having distal, symmetric sensory disturbances), most had a predominantly sensory neuropathy, 114 with pain and 86 without. Although clinical assessment showed that most patients, regardless of pain, had sensory deficits involving all sensory modalities, pin-

	Patients without pain (mean $\pm$ SD)	Patients with pain (mean $\pm$ SD)	Р
Sural SNAP amplitude (µV)	3.6 ± 2.8	3.3 ± 4	0.14
Sural NCS (m/s)	$46.7 \pm 3.8$	$47.9 \pm 4.1$	0.15
Peroneal CMAP amplitude (mV)	$4.2 \pm 2.1$	3.9 ± 2.2	0.2
Peroneal NCV (m/s)	$46.2\pm2.7$	$46.5\pm3.6$	0.69
Warm perceptive threshold (mJ/mm <sup>2</sup> )	$51.2 \pm 12.4$	59.14 ± 15.83	0.0002
Pinprick perceptive threshold (mJ/mm <sup>2</sup> )	89.87 ± 18.42	$106.9 \pm 31.97$	0.0005
Foot N1LEP latency (ms)	$204.3 \pm 38.1$	$208 \pm 22.1$	0.43
Foot N1LEP amplitude $(\mu V)$	$2 \pm 2.4$	$0.6 \pm 1.5$	< 0.0001
Foot N2LEP latency (ms)	$264.7 \pm 28.5$	259.3 ± 66.3	0.61
Foot N2-P2LEP amplitude (µV)	$15.1 \pm 10.1$	7.6 ± 9.2	< 0.0001

Tab. 1. Foot-related neurophysiological responses in patients with and without pain.

prick and warm thresholds assessed with laser stimuli were significantly higher in patients with pain than in those without (P < 0.01) (Table 1). In the group of patients with pain, DN4 identified 44 patients with allodynia, 70 without. V<sup>2</sup> test showed no differences in the frequency of pain and allodynia across the different aetiologies (P < 0.5). Whereas foot-LEP amplitude (the N1 component and N2-P2 complex) was significantly lower in patients with pain than in those without (P < 0.0001, Mann– Whitney test), neither sural SNAP (P < 0.1), nor LEP latency and sensory conduction velocities differed in the two groups (P < 0.1) (Tab. 1). The comparisons between neurophysiological responses in patients with and without allodynia (Fig. 1) showed that whereas warm and pinprick perceptive thresholds and the mean foot-LEP amplitude was higher in patients with allodynia than in those with ongoing pain alone (P < 0.01), the sural SNAP amplitude did not differ (P < 0.1) (Tab. 2; Fig. 2).



Fig. 1. Neurophysiological assessment in a control subject

(a) and in representative patients without allodynia

(b) and with allodynia (c). Figures show the distribution of pinprick hypoesthesia (black line) and allodynia (red line), and laser-evoked potentials (LEPs) and nerve conduction study (NCS) recordings. NCS data were similar in the two patients. LEPs were absent in patient without allodynia, but only partially reduced in patient with allodynia. NCS nerve conduction study. SNAP sensory nerve action potential. LEP laser evoked potentials. Horizontal calibration 2 ms for NCS, 20 ms for LEPs. Vertical calibration 10  $\mu$ V

	Patients without allodynia (mean ± SD)	Patients with allodynia (mean ± SD)	Р
Sural SNAP amplitude (µV)	3.6 ± 2.9	$2.9 \pm 3.4$	0.1
Sural NCS (m/s)	$48 \pm 4.1$	$47.6 \pm 4.3$	0.73
Peroneal CMAP amplitude (mV)	4.1 ± 2.2	3.3 ± 2.2	0.07
Peroneal NCV (m/s)	$46.9 \pm 3.3$	$45.8\pm3.9$	0.2
Warm perceptive threshold (mJ/mm <sup>2</sup> )	62.48 ± 16.23	$52.76 \pm 13.11$	0.0005
Pinprick perceptive threshold (mJ/mm <sup>2</sup> )	$116.1 \pm 34.13$	94.16 ± 23.29	0.001
Foot N1LEP latency (ms)	$225\pm29.7$	$199.3 \pm 10.6$	0.1
Foot N1LEP amplitude (µV)	$0.13 \pm 0.6$	$1.7 \pm 2.3$	0.001
Foot N2LEP latency (ms)	$258\pm28.8$	$258\pm28.3$	1
Foot N2-P2LEP amplitude (µV)	5.4 ± 7.6	11 ± 10.6	0.007

Tab. 2. Foot-related neurophysiological responses in patients with and without allodynia

#### Discussion

In our prospective clinical and neurophysiological study in a large cohort of patients with distal symmetric polyneuropathy, NCS testing failed to detect differences in A $\beta$ -fibre function in patients with and without allodynia. Conversely, LEP recordings showed larger-amplitude foot-LEPs in patients with allodynia than in those without. These findings imply that A $\beta$ -fibres have no role in mediating allodynia in patients with distal symmetric polyneuropathy and suggest that this type of pain might be associated with partially preserved and sensitised nociceptive nerve terminals.

In our group of patients with distal symmetric polyneuropathy, we found no differences in pain frequencies, or LEP or NCS abnormalities, according to aetiology. This finding is in line with previous studies that found no association between neuropathic pain disorders and aetiology [16, 17]. Hence, we believe that studies seeking information on pain mechanisms should group patients according to clinical features rather than aetiology.

When we investigated neurophysiological differences between patients with and without pain, we found that whereas LEPs had significantly smaller amplitudes in patients with pain, NCS data were similar in the two groups. These findings support the current knowledge on neuropathic pain. Previous clinical, neurophysiological, and neuropathological investigations showed that in patients with peripheral neuropathy of various aetiologies, neuropathic pain is invariably associated with nociceptive pathway damage [17–20].

When we compared neurophysiological data in patients with and without allodynia, we found no differences in NCS data in the two groups. The lack of differences in A $\beta$ -fibre- mediated NCS between patients with and without allodynia suggests that in most patients second-order neuron sensitisation to A $\beta$ -fibre input might be unnecessary for the development of allodynia. Although we found reduced-amplitude LEPs in patients with allodynia, the LEP attenuation was significantly lower than that in patients with painful neuropathy without this type of pain. This finding indicates that in patients with allodynia, nociceptive afferents are partially spared, and also suggests that allodynia might reflect a lowered mechanical threshold in intraepidermal nociceptive nerve terminals.

Over the past decades, ample evidence underlines a possible role for sensitised nociceptive terminals as primary determinants of pain in humans [21-23]. Previous studies directly demonstrated reduced C nociceptor thresholds to mechanical stimuli in humans with provoked pain [12]. In patients with postherpetic neuralgia, many studies showed that allodynia correlates with temperature sensation sparing, thus suggesting the need for a relative temperature-pain afferent fibre sparing [24]. Support for peripheral nociceptor sensitisation as the main mechanism responsible for allodynia also comes from placebo controlled trials showing that topical lidocaine, a drug that selectively blocks Aδ and C fibres, reduces allodynia [25, 26]. Some studies dealing with the mechanisms underlying allodynia distinguished patients with neuropathic pain according to their cutaneous nociceptor function: in some patients, ongoing pain and allodynia arise from sensitised nociceptors, in others there is a massive loss of cutaneous nociceptors within the allodynic skin [27]. These data raise the possibility that in patients with cutaneous nociceptor loss allodynia is mediated by Aβ-fibres. In our study we could not distinguish between patients with preserved and im-



**Fig. 2**. Statistical analysis in patients with (n = 44) and without allodynia (n = 70). While sural sensory nerve action potential does not differ between patients with and without allodynia (a), the amplitude of the N2-P2 complex of the laser evoked potentials after foot stimulation is higher in patients with allodynia than in those without (b)(P < 0.01, Mann–Whitney test)

paired cutaneous nociceptors, because all our patients had thermal pain sensory deficits, though variable in severity. This limitation notwithstanding, a previous study [28] showed that lidocaine, a drug that selectively blocks cutaneous nociceptors [26], effectively relieved allodynia also in patients with impaired nociceptor function, thus suggesting that even in this group of patients allodynia might be mediated by the few surviving and sensitised nociceptors. The need of partially preserved nociceptive nerve terminals for developing allodynia implies that a massive loss of peripheral nociceptors causing severe sensory deficits may prevent the development of allodynia. Hence in patients with distal symmetric peripheral neuropathy, allodynia might predominantly manifest at the initial or mild stages of peripheral neuropathy when cutaneous nociceptive nerve terminals are still partially spared. We also hypothesize that a minimal critical number of sensitized nociceptors is probably needed for developing allodynia. Further skin biopsy studies assessing intraepidermal innervation might clarify this point. Some limitations regarding the present study should be addressed. We found significant differences in group analysis, but we cannot provide reliable conclusions on mechanisms underlying allodynia in single patient. We also cannot exclude the possibility that allodynia might occasionally develop partly through central mechanisms. Spared nociceptors might sensitize second-order neurons to Aβ-fibre input, thus producing allodynia. Many animal studies directly proved second-order neuron sensitisation to Aβ-fibre input, and some clinical observations in healthy humans and patients indicate that a selective AB-fibre block reduces allodynia [29, 30]. Notwithstanding these possible limitations, our study reliably demonstrates that a better preserved nociceptor population in neuropathy increases the risk of developing allodynia. This suggests that second-order neuron sensitisation to Aβ-fibre input might be unnecessary for the development of allodynia. The information from our study showing that allodynia in patients with distal symmetric polyneuropathy is associated with partially preserved nociceptive afferent fibres and possibly unrelated to Aβ-fibres could be useful in designing new treatment strategies targeted to this type of pain.

**Ethical standard** All human studies must that they have been approved by the appropriate ethics committee and therefore been performed in accordance with the ethical standards laid down in the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki.

## References

- Attal N, Bouhassira D, Baron R, Dostrovsky J, Dworkin RH, Finnerup N, Gourlay G, Haanpaa M, Raja S, Rice AS, Simpson D, Treede RD (2011) Assessing symptom profiles in neuropathic pain clinical trials: can it improve outcome? Eur J Pain 15:441–443
- Samuelsson M, Leffler AS, Johansson B, Hansson P (2011) The influence of brushing force and stroking velocity on dynamic mechanical allodynia in patients with peripheral neuropathy. Eur J Pain 15:389–394
- Cruccu G, Sommer C, Anand P, Attal N, Baron R, Garcia-Larrea L, Haanpaa M, Jensen TS, Serra J, Treede RD (2010) EFNS guidelines on neuropathic pain assessment: revised 2009. Eur J Neurol 17:1010–1018

- Truini A, Galeotti F, Romaniello A, Virtuoso M, Iannetti GD, Cruccu G (2005) Laser-evoked potentials: normative values. Clin Neurophysiol 116:821–826
- Treede RD (2003) Neurophysiological studies of pain pathways in peripheral and central nervous system disorders. J Neurol 250:1152–1161
- Leandri M, Saturno M, Spadavecchia L, Iannetti GD, Cruccu G, Truini A (2006) Measurement of skin temperature after infrared laser stimulation. Neurophysiol Clin 36:207–218
- Cruccu G, Aminoff MJ, Curio G, Guerit JM, Kakigi R, Mau- guiere F, Rossini PM, Treede RD, Garcia-Larrea L (2008) Rec- ommendations for the clinical use of somatosensory-evoked potentials. Clin Neurophysiol 119:1705–1719
- Treede RD (2006) Pain and hyperalgesia: definitions and theo- ries. Handb Clin Neurol 81:3–10
- 9. von Hehn CA, Baron R, Woolf CJ (2012) Deconstructing the neuropathic pain phenotype to reveal neural mechanisms. Neuron 73:638–652
- Simone DA, Sorkin LS, Oh U, Chung JM, Owens C, LaMotte RH, Willis WD (1991) Neurogenic hyperalgesia: central neural correlates in responses of spinothalamic tract neurons. J Neuro- physiol 66:228–246
- 11. Serra J, Campero M, Bostock H, Ochoa J (2004) Two types of C nociceptors in human skin and their behavior in areas of capsa- icin-induced secondary hyperalgesia. J Neurophysiol 91:2770–2781
- 12. Ochoa JL, Campero M, Serra J, Bostock H (2005) Hyperexcitable polymodal and insensitive nociceptors in painful human neu- ropathy. Muscle Nerve 32:459–472
- England JD, Gronseth GS, Franklin G, Miller RG, Asbury AK, Carter GT, Cohen JA, Fisher MA, Howard JF, Kinsella LJ, Latov N, Lewis RA, Low PA, Sumner AJ (2005) Distal symmetrical polyneuropathy: definition for clinical research. Muscle Nerve 31:113–123
- 14. Bouhassira D, Attal N, Alchaar H, Boureau F, Brochet B, Bruxelle J, Cunin G, Fermanian J, Ginies P, Grun-Overdyking A, Jafari-Schluep H, Lante'ri-Minet M, Laurent B, Mick G, Serrie A, Valade D, Vicaut E (2005) Comparison of pain syndromes associated with nervous or somatic lesions and development of a new neuropathic pain diagnostic questionnaire (DN4). Pain 114:29–36
- 15. Kimura J (2006) Peripheral nerve diseases, handbook of clinical neurophysiology. Elsevier, Amsterdam
- Baron R, To¨lle TR, Gockel U, Brosz M, Freynhagen R (2009) A cross-sectional cohort survey in 2100 patients with painful dia- betic neuropathy and postherpetic neuralgia: differences in demographic data and sensory symptoms. Pain 146:34–40
- 17. Truini A, Biasiotta A, La Cesa S, Di Stefano G, Galeotti F, Petrucci MT, Inghilleri M, Cartoni C, Pergolini M, Cruccu G (2010) Mechanisms of

pain in distal symmetric polyneuropathy: a combined clinical and neurophysiological study. Pain 150:516–521

- Truini A, Padua L, Biasiotta A, Caliandro P, Pazzaglia C, Galeotti F, Inghilleri M, Cruccu G (2009) Differential involve- ment of A-delta and A-beta fibres in neuropathic pain related to carpal tunnel syndrome. Pain 145:105–109
- Vlckova-Moravcova E, Bednarik J, Belobradkova J, Sommer C (2008) Small-fibre involvement in diabetic patients with neuro- pathic foot pain. Diabet Med 25:692–699
- Martin C, Solders G, So nnerborg A, Hansson P (2003) Painful and non-painful neuropathy in HIV-infected patients: an analysis of somatosensory nerve function. Eur J Pain 7:23–31
- 21. Bostock H, Campero M, Serra J, Ochoa JL (2005) Temperature- dependent double spikes in C-nociceptors of neuropathic pain patients. Brain 128:2154–2163
- 22. Cline MA, Ochoa J, Torebjoʻrk HE (1989) Chronic hyperalgesia and skin warming caused by sensitized C nociceptors. Brain 112:621–647
- Serra J, Bostock H, Sola` R, Aleu J, Garc´ıa E, Cokic B, Navarro X, Quiles C (2012) Microneurographic identification of sponta- neous activity in C-nociceptors in neuropathic pain states in humans and rats. Pain 153:42–55
- 24. Rowbotham MC, Fields HL (1996) The relationship of pain, allodynia and thermal sensation in post-herpetic neuralgia. Brain 119:347–354
- 25. Meier T, Wasner G, Faust M, Kuntzer T, Ochsner F, Hueppe M, Bogousslavsky J, Baron R (2003) Efficacy of lidocaine patch 5 % in the treatment of focal peripheral neuropathic pain syndromes: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Pain 106:151–158
- Krumova EK, Zeller M, Westermann A, Maier C (2012) Lido- caine patch (5 %) produces a selective, but incomplete block of Ad and C fibers. Pain 153:273–280
- 27. Fields HL, Rowbotham M, Baron R (1998) Postherpetic neural- gia: irritable nociceptors and deafferentation. Neurobiol Dis 5:209–227
- Wasner G, Kleinert A, Binder A, Schattschneider J, Baron R (2005) Postherpetic neuralgia: topical lidocaine is effective in nociceptor-deprived skin. J Neurol 252:677–686
- Koltzenburg M, Lundberg LE, Torebjo"rk HE (1992) Dynamic and static components of mechanical hyperalgesia in human hairy skin. Pain 51:207–219
- Koltzenburg M, Torebjo"rk HE, Wahren LK (1994) Nociceptor modulated central sensitization causes mechanical hyperalgesia in acute chemogenic and chronic neuropathic pain. Brain 117:579–591

Study IV

Breaking dogmas: paroxysmal pain is mediated by non nocipeptive large myelinated fibres.

A neurophysiological study in healthy subjects.

Introduction

## Background

## What is Neuropathic Pain?

The International Association for the Study of Pain defines neuropathic pain as pain caused by a lesion or disease of the somatosensory nervous system.[1]

Neuropathic pain is a frequent problem in many peripheral neuropas system diseases, especially distal symmetrical peripheral neuropathies (such as diabetic neuropathy) and focal neuropathies related to trauma (such as traumatic brachial plexus injuries), and following surgical interventions (such as breast surgery). Central nervous system diseases that commonly cause neuropathic pain include multiple sclerosis (MS), spinal cord injury and stroke. This wide-ranging aetiology explains the high prevalence of neuropathic pain in the general population: results from postal surveys to investigate chronic pain with neuropathic characteristics in large community samples indicate that neuropathic pain has a 7–8% prevalence, and confers a tremendous medical, social and economic burden.[2]

## Mechanisms based approach

Patients with neuropathic pain usually complain of a various combination of different pain symptoms. Neuropathic pain typically manifests with continuous pain (burning, squeezing, pressure) or paroxysmal pain (electric shock-like sensations, stabbing pain), and provoked (brush-evoked, pressure-evoked, cold-evoked), or paraesthetic and dysaesthesic (tingling, pins and needles) sensations.[4]

Although in some etiologic categories of neuropathic pain specific types of pain may predominate, none of them are etiologic specific. Hence, patients suffering from an identical disease may present with heterogeneous sensory signs and symptoms. The diagnostic workup should therefore aim to define specific sensory profiles through clinical examination, questionnaires dedicated to neuropathic pain, and laboratory tools. Neuropathic pain can now be classified by sensory profiles (quality of pain) rather than aetiology, as the recent European guidelines recommend.[5] Classifying neuropathic pain according to a mechanism-based rather than an aetiology-based approach might minimize pathophysiological heterogeneity within the groups under study and thus help in targeting therapy to the individual patient. It would also be useful in testing new drugs.

#### Types of spontaneous neuropathic pain

Although neuropathic pain frequently manifests with a combination of spontaneous and provoked pains, in most clinical conditions, spontaneous pain usually represents the predominant complaint of patients suffering from neuropathic pain [6]. The most typical quality of spontaneous pain is the ongoing burning pain. Clinical studies report that the frequency of burning pain ranges from 51% to 90% in patients with peripheral neuropathy [6]. Most clinical and neurophysiological studies showed that this type of pain is associated with nociceptive pathway damage. More specifically neurophysiological studies have shown that in patients with neuropathic pain related to peripheral and central nervous system diseases (postherpetic neuralgia, carpal tunnel syndrome, polyneuropathy and multiple sclerosis), the severity of ongoing burning pain is inversely related to the amplitude of nociceptive-mediated laser evoked potentials. This relationship-although only an indirect finding in some instances-indicates that ongoing burning pain is strongly associated with damage to the nociceptive system.[7][8][9]

Insofar as dysfunction of pain pathways results in painful sensations, and evidence in animal models and humans shows damage to pain pathways in neuropathic pain conditions, expert opinion is that neuropathic pain invariably arises from damage to nociceptive rather than non-nociceptive pathways.[10] However in patients with postherpetic neuralgia and carpal tunnel syndrome, paroxysmal electric-shock-like pain is associated with neurophysiological abnormalities involving non-nociceptive A $\beta$ -fibres. More specifically, in patients with postherpetic neuralgia and carpal tunnel syndrome the correlation between the delayed responses to blink reflex testing and median-nerve sensory conduction velocity slowing and paroxysmal electrical shock-like pain suggests that this type of pain is related to focal A $\beta$ -fibre demyelination.[7][8] In patients with multiple sclerosis, Lhermitte phenomenon (the classic electrical shock-like sensation) is associated with abnormalities in dorsal column-mediated somatosensory evoked potentials, whereas spinothalamic-mediated laser evoked potentials are spared. This finding suggests that Lhermitte phenomenon originates from demyelination in non-nociceptive dorsal columns, and leaves the nociceptive spinothalamic pathways almost intact.[9]

The possibility of a correlation between the electric-shock-like pain and demyelination of (non-nociceptive) large myelinated fibres is indirectly supported by numerous observations that trigeminal neuralgiathe neuropathic pain condition that most typically causes paroxysmal electric-shock-like pain-is due to focal demyelination that mainly affects large myelinated fibres [11]. In classic trigeminal neuralgia (caused by compression of the trigeminal root by aberrant vessels) and symptomatic trigeminal neuralgia (caused by compression or stretching of the trigeminal route by slow-growing benign tumours), the focal compression mechanically damages large myelinated fibres, causing demyelination. In animal and human experimental studies, nerve compression (by a weight or a pneumatic cuff) injures large-myelinated fibres, whereas small myelinated and unmyelinated fibres remain unaffected. Symptomatic trigeminal neuralgia due to a pontine demyelinating plaque related to multiple sclerosis directly arises from demyelination of primary afferent fibres. Whether produced by chronic compression or multiple sclerosis, demyelination of Aβ-fibres increases the susceptibility of these neurons to ectopic excitation and high-frequency discharges, producing typical paroxysmal pain. According to the proposed mechanism for electric-shock-like pain, the most appropriate treatments are probably carbamazepine and oxcarbazepine, as such agents produce a frequency-dependent block of voltage-gated sodium channels and, thereby, reduce the frequency of action potential firing. This assumption is supported by the evidence that these drugs produce considerable pain relief in most patients with trigeminal neuralgia.

Moving from this assumption we devised a neurophysiological study aiming at verifying whether high-frequency electrical stimulation selectively activating intact A $\beta$ -fibres can produce paroxysmal pain in healthy subjects. To do so we investigated six patients with typical Trigeminal Neuralgia (TN) by delivering a train of stimuli at their fifth digit using various frequencies (100-200 Hz), durations (0.5-1 sec) and intensities lower than pain threshold when delivered in single pulses, to ascertain which kind of stimulus mostly approached the painful paroxysm occurring during a TN attack and we therefore reproduced it in 10 normal subjects before and after a ropivacaine blockade, selectively inactivating small diameter fibres.

### **Preliminary experiment**

#### Healthy Subjects:

#### Psychophysical test

We performed in 10 healthy subjects aged 24-33 years (mean 28 years; 4 males, 6 females) a psychophysical test to ascertain which kind of stimulus was able to evoke a shock-like painful paroxysm. Each subject underwent 24 different stimulations with randomized different intensities (1.5, 2 and 2.5 times the perceptive threshold) ,frequencies (10 Hz, 50 Hz, 100 Hz, 200 Hz) and durations (0.5 sec, 1 sec). After each stimulation we asked subjects to classify the perception as pain, unpleasantness or tactile and to rate it using a numerical rating scale from 0 to 10. We therefore used the setting that obtained the highest rate among the pain/unpleasant sensation (100 Hz, 1 sec, 2.5 times the perceptive threshold) as shown in Fig. 1.

#### Patients

To further validate data obtained in healthy subjects we recruited six patients with Trigeminal Neuralgia aged 59-74 (mean 69; 3 male, 3 female). Inclusion criteria was diagnosis of typical trigeminal neuralgia, i.e. episodic, unilateral, lancinating, triggerable, often shocklike facial pains and pain-free intervals [12]. We tested their perceptive threshold by delivering a single pulse stimulus at increasing intensities, subsequently we performed a train of stimuli at different frequencies (100,200 Hz) and different durations (0,5;1 sec), using an intensity twice and a half the perceptive threshold in single pulse to be sure not to activate anything but the large myelinated fibres. We therefore asked patients to compare our bursts to the one occurring during an attack of Trigeminal Neuralgia and to indicate the most like. Once we obtained the settings to deliver an high frequency, low intensity train of stimuli (100Hz, 1 sec, NRS mean 5,75±1,25) very similar to Trigeminal neuralgia paroxysm (although all patients said



**Fig. 1.** x axis: number of subjects; y axis: different frequencies in Hz (10, 50, 100, 200) white: tactile; grey: unpleasantness; black: pain.

that their paroxysms lasted more), we performed the experiment in 10 healthy subjects.

NRS values assigned to different trains of stimuli by each patient are resumed in Tab. 1.

	200 hz 1 sec	200hz 0,5 sec	100hz 1 sec	100hz 0,5 sec
NRS Patient 1	10	7	5	7
NRS Patient 2	6,5	6,5	6,5	6,5
NRS Patient 3	6	7,5	7,5	5
NRS Patient 4	2,5	3,5	3,5	0
NRS Patient 5	8	8	6	6
NRS Patient 6	0	0	6	0
Mean±SD	5,5±3,3	5,4±2,8	5,75±1,25	4±2,9

Tab. 1. NRS values assigned to different trains of stimuli by each patient.

#### Material and methods

We studied 10 subjects aged 24-33 years (mean 28 years; 4 males, 6 females). First in the ulnar nerve territory of all subjects we assessed the mechanical detection threshold with a standardized set of von Frey hairs (Optihair2-Set, Marstock Nervtest, Germany, 0.25 and 512 mN graded by a factor of 2); subsequently we evaluated the thermal thresholds, using a TSA- II Neuro-sensory analyzer: Peltier thermode 30x30mm size, TSA-II S/  $0^{\circ}$ C –  $50^{\circ}$ C. (Medoc, Israel). Using the method of limits, cold detection threshold (CDT), warm detection threshold (WDT), cold pain threshold (CPT) and warm pain threshold (WPT) were determined over three consecutive trials (baseline temperature of the thermode was 32° C, upper limit 50° C and lower limit 0° C). Ulnar nerve sensory conduction was recorded orthodromically with ring electrodes placed at the fifth digit and amplitude of sensory nerve action potential recorded 2 cm proximal to the distal wrist crease. At least we detected pinprick threshold with a neodymium:yttrium-aluminium- perovskite (Nd:YAP) laser (wavelength 1.34 mm, pulse duration 2-20 ms, maximum energy 7 J) and we therefore recorded laser evoked potentials from the same territory (the early, lateralized component, N1, and the main complex, N2–P2, were recorded through disc electrodes from the temporal areas (Tc) referenced to frontal area (Fz) and vertex (Cz) referenced to the nose; from 10 to 20 artefact-free trials were collected and averaged), using an intensity of stimulation equal to each subject pain tolerance (i.e. the highest intensity of laser stimulation each subject could tolerate). We considered worthwhile to introduce pain tolerance as a limit value for laser stimulation to prevent cutaneous lesions, surely occurring by increasing laser intensity during pinprick threshold evaluation after ropivacaine blockade. Subsequently we performed an high frequency (100Hz, 1 sec) low intensity (i.e. twice and half the perceptive threshold delivered in single pulses) train of stimuli (stimulus duration 0.1 msec) using ring electrodes at the fifth digit and ground electrode on the hand palm. We asked each subject to report the pain score on a 0-10 NRS.

Once we obtained basal values, we performed a ropivacaine block of the ulnar nerve at the wrist. We inserted a needle electrode (Botox needle) between flexor carpi ulnaris tendon and ulnar artery and set the nerve stimulator at 0.5 mA, once we obtained muscle twitches in the flexor digiti minimi brevis we injected up to 1,5 ml of ropivacaine (7,5 mg/ml) near nerve, exploiting the same needle we used for stimulation. We therefore asked subjects to stay for a few minutes with hand dangling. Thanks to ropivacaine slow onset and low potency, resulting in a marked differential blockade, we could easily test the progressive inactivation of different fibre groups, starting from small to large diameter fibres [13]. Once our subjects felt numbness in the ulnar territory, we repeated the same experiments performed before block: mechanical detection threshold, thermal and pinprick thresh-



**Fig. 2.** Materials and methods: A. Mechanical detection; B. Thermal threshold; C. Pinprick threshold and pain tolerance D-E. Erogation of an high frequency and low intensity train of stimuli; F. Ropivacaine injection.

old, pain tolerance and Leps . Once we assessed the absence of thermal and pinprick threshold and laser evoked potentials (obtained by stimulating at pain tolerance intensity), thus confirming the effectiveness of ropivacaine blockade, we performed the same high frequency and low intensity train of stimuli and asked subjects to report the pain score on a 0-10 NRS.

#### Statistical analysis

We used the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test to assess the normal distribution. Paired t-test was used to analyze data normally distributed, before and after ropivacaine blockade.

The Wilcoxon matched -pair test was used for Leps amplitude which did not show a normal distribution.

P<0.01 was considered significant. All results are reported as Mean  $\pm$  SD.

## Results

Each subject showed basal values for mechanical, thermal and pain thresholds among normative range for age. (Tab. 2)

All subjects experienced paroxysmal pain during the high frequency, low intensity train of stimuli (NRS mean 5,9±0,8).

During ropivacaine blockade in the totality of subjects: mechanical thresholds remained unvaried (p=1); thermal and pain thresholds, assessed with quantitative sensory testing method of limits (WT, CT,



Fig. 3. Numerical rating scale (NRS) reported for high frequency train of stimuli (HFS), before (pre) and during (post) ropivacaine blockade.

WPT, CPT) were impossible to define; pinprick threshold and Laser evoked potentials, explored at increasing intensities until the pain tolerance, were absent (Tab. 2).

Numerical rating scale (NRS) reported by subjects did not significantly differ before and during complete anesthetic block of small fibres ( $5.9 \pm 0.8$  and  $5.5 \pm 1.3$ ; P> 0.20) (Fig. 3).

	Von Frey WT			СТ		WPT		СРТ		Pinprick		РТ		N2-P2 A		
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
Subject 1	0,2	0,2	36,6	A	26,5	A	46,2	A	14,8	A	89	A	140	Α	68	Α
Subject 2	0,5	0,5	33,7	A	30,1	A	40,1	A	20,1	A	89	A	140	Α	26	Α
Subject 3	0,5	0,5	34,5	A	29,7	A	41,7	A	12,6	A	89	A	102	Α	39	Α
Subject 4	0,5	0,5	35,3	Α	25,5	A	47,3	A	8	A	76	A	127	Α	23	Α
Subject 5	0,5	0,5	37,7	A	24,5	A	45,2	A	6,7	A	89	A	140	Α	73	Α
Subject 6	0,2	0,2	35,7	A	27,2	A	44,1	A	13,2	A	76	A	140	Α	40	Α
Subject 7	0,2	0,2	33,6	A	29,8	A	45,4	A	9	A	76	A	140	Α	35	Α
Subject 8	0,2	0,2	36,5	Α	24,6	A	47,2	A	6,8	A	89	A	140	Α	57	Α
Subject 9	0,2	0,2	37	Α	24,3	A	48,2	A	11,2	A	76	A	140	Α	57	Α
Subject10	0,2	0,2	36,2	Α	26,3	Α	42,4	Α	10,7	Α	64	Α	127	Α	52	Α

**Tab. 2.** Von Frey: mechanical threshold values (mN); WT: warm threshold (°C) ; CT: cold threshold(°C); WPT: warm pain threshold(°C); CPT: cold pain threshold(°C); Pinprick: pinprick threshold (J/mm<sup>3</sup>); PT: pain tolerance (mJ/mm<sup>2</sup>); N2-P2 A: peak to peak amplitude of N2-P2 complex ( $\mu$ V). Each value is reported before (pre) and during (post) ropivacaine blockade.

#### Discussion

In this study we were able to reproduce the electric shock like sensation with defined characteristics of brevity, rapidity and suddenness, very similar to the one experienced by our patients affected by trigeminal neuralgia. This sensation arose from a selective stimulation of large myelinated non nociceptive A $\beta$ -fibres and was considered painful or strongly unpleasant (NRS mean 5,9±0,8) by the totality of our healthy subjects, thus breaking the dogma that only nociceptive fibres can mediate pain.

The same painful/ unpleasant sensation persisted after ropivacaine nerve block of nociceptive fibres, demonstrated by the complete absence of thermal and pinprick threshold and laser evoked potentials. In our opinion this two considerations are strong enough to conclude that  $A\beta$ -fibres surely play an important role in mediating paroxysmal pain, thus calling for a change in established knowledge, still postulating that spontaneous pain is invariably mediated by nociceptive pathways.

This data are in line with previous animal studies by Burchiel [14] describing spontaneous ectopic discharges recorded in Ab-fibre axons of cats after nerve injuries and Rasminsky [15] demonstrating that ectopic Action Potentials can be generated from areas of demyelination in peripheral nerves of dystrophic mice.

Furthermore these data are in line with our previous neurophysiological studies in patients with postherpetic neuralgia, carpal tunnel syndrome and multiple sclerosis showing that while ongoing burning pain correlated with abnormalities of nociceptive fibre-mediated LEPs, paroxysmal electric-shock-like pain was associated with neurophysiological abnormalities involving non-nociceptive A $\beta$ -fibres [7][8][9]. The possibility of a correlation between the paroxysmal electric-shock-like pain and demyelination of (non-nociceptive) large myelinated fibres is indirectly supported by numerous observations that trigeminal neuralgia—the neuropathic pain condition that most typically causes paroxysmal electric-shock-like pain—is due to focal demyelination that mainly affects large myelinated fibres [12]. Demyelination of A $\beta$  fibres probably increases the susceptibility of these neurons to ectopic excitation and high-frequency discharges, producing typical paroxysmal pain.

A limit of our neurophysiological experiment is that we cannot demonstrate whether A $\beta$ -fibre activation are sufficient to provoke pain per se or rather they indirectly produce pain by depolarizing dorsal horn nociceptive C-fibre terminals [16]. However, this plausible involvement of nociceptive pathway does not hinder the key role of A $\beta$ -fibres in mediating paroxysmal pain.

Another limit of this study is the variability among subjects in defining the high frequency burst. During preliminary test some subjects (N=3) rated the sensation as unpleasant and not painful.

This study, together with previous neurophysiological studies by our group, provide extremely convincing data about the correlation between A $\beta$  fibers and paroxysmal pain in different pathological conditions and lead us to believe that different types of neuropathic pain are invariably caused by similar mechanisms, regardless of the underlying disease . This acquisition is based on the so-called

"mechanism-based" approach, which according to the recommendations of the most recent guidelines on the management of neuropathic pain [5] should become the cornerstone of clinical assessment and therapeutic interventions in this regard. In the present case, the supposed mechanism underlying paroxysmal pain makes reason of the effectiveness of sodium channel blockers, drugs that are successfully used in every case of electric shock like pain, regardless of aethiology. We expect that our new findings might be useful in drug trials and in tailoring therapy to the individual patient, suffering from this type of pain.

# References

- [1] IASP taxonomy, http://www.iasp-pain.org/Education/Content.aspx ItemNumber=1698
- [2] Bouhassira D et al. Prevalence of chronic pain with neuropathic characteristics in the general population. Pain. 2008 Jun;136(3):380-7. Epub 2007 Sep 20.
- [3] Cruccu G et al. EFNS guidelines on neuropathic pain assessment: revised 2009. Eur J Neurol. 2010 Aug;17(8):1010-8. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2010.02969.x. Epub 2010 Mar 8.
- [4] Truini A et al. Reappraising neuropathic pain in humans--how symptoms help disclose mechanisms. Nat Rev Neurol. 2013 Oct;9(10):572-82. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2013.180. Epub 2013 Sep 10.
- [5] Attal N, Cruccu G, Baron R, Haanpää M, Hansson P, Jensen TS, Nurmikko T; European Federation of Neurological Societies. EFNS guidelines on the pharmacological treatment of neuropathic pain: 2010 revision Eur J Neurol. 2010 Sep;17(9):1113-e88. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2010.02999.x. Epub 2010 Apr 9.
- [6] Attal, N. et al. Neuropathic pain: are there distinct subtypes depending on the aetiology or anatomical lesion? Pain 138, 343–353 (2008).
- [7] Truini A et al. Pathophysiology of pain in postherpetic neuralgia: a clinical and neurophysiological study. Pain 2008;140:405–10.
- [8] Truini A et al. Differential involvement of A-delta and A-beta fibres in neuropathic pain related to carpal tunnel syndrome. Pain 2009;145:105–9.
- [9] Truini A et al. Mechanisms of pain in multiple sclerosis: A combined clinical and neurophysiological study.Pain. 2012 Oct;153(10):2048-54.
- [10] von Hehn CA et al. Deconstructing the neuropathic pain phenotype to reveal neural mechanisms. Neuron. 2012 Feb 23;73(4):638-52. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.02.008.
- [11] Love S and Coakham HB. Trigeminal neuralgia: pathology and pathogenesis. Brain. 2001 Dec;124(Pt 12):2347-60.

- [12] Burchiel KJ. Trigeminal neuropathic pain. Acta Neurochir Suppl (Wien). 1993;58:145-9. Review.
- [13] Hansen TG. Ropivacaine: a pharmacological review. Expert Rev Neurother. 2004 Sep;4(5):781-91.
- [14] Burchiel KJ. Abnormal impulse generation in focally demyelinated trigeminal roots. J Neurosurg. 1980 Nov;53(5):674-83.
- [15] Rasminsky M: Ectopic generation of impulses and cross-talk in spinal nerve roots of "dystrophic" mice.

Ann Nenrol 3:351-357, 1978

# Acknowledgements

The present Ph.D thesis would not have been possible without the generous support, assistance and constructive criticisms of several persons.

First I want to thank my supervisor, Professor Giorgio Cruccu, who gave me the chance to become a scientist "despite all those children". I m also grateful to professor Andrea Truini for his silent and patient support during several years of collaboration. A special thank to my colleagues Silvia, Giulia, Antonella and Alessia because they really made it happen.

Thanks to Antonio, my safety. And last but definitively not least, thanks to all my family and friends.

# Comitato Premio Tesi di Dottorato 2016

Coordinatore GIUSEPPE CICCARONE

Membri

Beatrice Alfonzetti Gaetano Azzariti Andrea Baiocchi Maurizio Del Monte Silvia Mezi Vittorio Lingiardi

Il Comitato editoriale assicura una valutazione trasparente e indipendente delle opere sottoponendole in forma anonima a due valutatori, anch'essi anonimi. Per ulteriori dettagli si rinvia al sito: www.editricesapienza.it

#### Collana Studi e Ricerche

Per informazioni sui precedenti volumi in collana, consultare il sito: www.editricesapienza.it

- «Pendono interrotte le opere» Antichi monumenti incompiuti nel mondo greco Massimiliano Papini
- La disabilità tra riabilitazione e abilitazione sociale Il caso dei Gudat Akal a Mekelle e Wukro Virginia De Silva
- 82. I Consoli del Mare di Firenze nel Quattrocento *Eleonora Plebani*
- Le categorie flessive nella didattica del tedesco Un confronto tra grammatiche Deutsch als Fremdsprache internazionali e per italofoni *Claudio Di Meola e Daniela Puato*
- 84. Il corpo degli altri a cura di Anna Belozorovitch, Tommaso Gennaro, Barbara Ronchetti, Francesca Zaccone
- El largo viaje de los mitos Mitos clásicos y mitos prehispánicos en las literaturas latinoamericanas edición de Stefano Tedeschi
- 86. Analysis and Design of Antennas and Algorithms for Near-Field Sensing *Davide Comite*
- Synthesis and biological evaluation of 1,5-diphenylpyrrole derivatives as COX-2 selective inhibitors and NO-releasing agents and development of a novel BRD9 chemical probe Sara Consalvi
- 88. New Techniques for Adaptive Program Optimization Daniele Cono D'Elia
- 89. La spiegazione delle disuguaglianze attraverso modelli generativi Un contributo alla comprensione della mobilità sociale nella prospettiva della sociologia analitica *Pasquale di Padova*
- 90. La dinamica degli opposti Ricerca letteraria, cultura mediatica e media in Georges Perec *Loredana Fiorletta*

- 91. Seismic Performance of Masonry Cross Vaults Learning from historical developments and experimental testing *Angelo Gaetani*
- 92. What's behind neuropathic pain? Neurophysiological diagnostic tests investigating mechanisms underlying neuropathic pain *Caterina Maria Leone*
- 93. Getting ready to act Neurocognitive aspects of action preparation *Rinaldo Livio Perri*
- 94. Trust e Impresa in Crisi *Elena Signori*

# Studi e Ricerche

#### Medicina

N europathic pain is a common problem in clinical practice, which affects patients quality of life. The more recent approach to this peculiar type of pain is based on the "sensory profiles theory". According to this theory, neuropathic pain manifests with different combinations of sensory abnormalities, which in turn arise through different pathophysiological mechanisms. Convincing evidence now suggests that the classification of neuropathic pain according to a mechanism-based approach rather than etiology could help in targeting the therapy for the individual patient and would be useful for testing new drugs. My work has therefore focused on disclosing the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying neuropathic pain and how they translate into symptoms.

**Caterina Maria Leone** is a research fellow at the Department of Human Neurosciences of Sapienza University of Rome. She graduated in 2009 in Medicine and Surgery and in 2016 she obtained her PhD in Clinical and Experimental Neuroscience. Her research is dedicated to clinical neurophysiology, with focus on neuropathic pain.





Winner of the Competition "Prize for PhD Thesis 2016" arranged by Sapienza University Press.



Opera diffusa in modalità open access e sottoposta a licenza Creative Commons Attribuzione – Non commerciale Non opere derivate (CC BY-NC-ND), 3.0 Italia